
Shenandoah Community School District Board of Directors 
Shenandoah Administrative Board Room 

June 24, 2019 – 5:00 p.m. 
Special Meeting 

 
Board Agenda 

1. Call to Order 
2. Roll Call and Determination of Quorum 
3. Administrative Reports 

a. Boys Town Social Skills  
b. Overview of the Year 

4. Action Items 
a. Approve Emergency Operations Plan 
b. Approve Contract with Shenandoah Medical Center for Wellness Plan 

5. Informational Items 
Next Regular Meeting –July 8, 2019 at 5:00 P.M. 

6. Adjournment 

 

Board Work Session – No pending action 

1. Call to Order 
2. Roll Call & Determination of Quorum 
3. Discussion Items 

a. SAVE Funds and Revenue Purpose Statement 
b. Facility Planning and Concept Drawings 

4. Adjournment 

 

 



 
 
 

SHENANDOAH COMMUNITY 
SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 

Emergency Operations Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

6.24.2019 
 

Shenandoah Administration Office & Preschool 
Shenandoah Elementary School 

Shenandoah Middle School 
Shenandoah High School 

Shenandoah Bus Barn



 

 
Shenandoah Emergency Operations Plan   
6/19/19  i 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction 2 
1.1 Signatory Page 2 
1.2 Approval and Implementation 2 
1.3 Record of Changes 2 
1.4 Record of Distribution 2 

2 Purpose 3 

3 Scope 3 

4 Situation Overview 4 
4.1 Shenandoah Administration Office & Preschool 6 

4.1.1 School Population 6 
4.1.2 Building Information 6 
4.1.3 Geographical Issues 6 
4.1.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 6 

4.2 Shenandoah Elementary/Middle School 7 
4.2.1 School Population 7 
4.2.2 Building Information 7 
4.2.3 Geographical Issues 7 
4.2.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 7 

4.3 Shenandoah High School 8 
4.3.1 School Population 8 
4.3.2 Building Information 8 
4.3.3 Geographical Issues 8 
4.3.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 8 

4.4 Shenandoah Bus Barn 9 
4.4.1 School Population 9 
4.4.2 Building Information 9 
4.4.3 Geographical Issues 9 
4.4.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 9 

4.5 Resources 9 

5 Planning Assumptions and Limitations 9 
5.1 Planning Assumptions 9 
5.2 Limitations 10 

6 Concept of Operations 10 
6.1 Key Areas of Emergency Planning 11 
6.2 National Incident Management System 11 

6.2.1 Communication 12 
6.2.2 Initial Response 12 
6.2.3 Implementation of the Incident Command System (ICS) 13 

7 Organization and Assignment of Responsibilities 14 
7.1 Organization 14 

7.1.1 The Policy Group 14 
7.1.2 School Site Safety and Security 14 



 

 
Shenandoah Emergency Operations Plan   
6/19/19  ii 

7.1.3 District or School Departments 15 
7.2 Responsibilities 15 

7.2.1 District Incident Commander: Steve Hielen, Director of Maintenance and 
Operations 15 
7.2.2 Building Administrator 15 
7.2.3 Teachers 16 
7.2.4 Associates 16 
7.2.5 Counselors, Social Workers, and Psychologists 16 
7.2.6 School Nurses 16 
7.2.7 Custodians/Maintenance Personnel 17 
7.2.8 School Secretary/Office Staff 17 
7.2.9 Food Service Workers 17 
7.2.10 Transportation/Bus Drivers 17 
7.2.11 Other Staff (Substitute Teachers) 17 
7.2.12 Students 17 
7.2.13 Parents/Guardians 17 

8 Direction, Control, and Coordination 18 
8.1 Incident Command 18 
8.2 Incident Management 19 
8.3 Incident Command Post 20 
8.4 Incident Commander 20 
8.5 Unified Command 21 
8.6 Public Information Officer 22 
8.7 Operations Section 22 
8.8 Planning Section 23 
8.9 Logistics Section 24 

8.9.1 Sources and Use of Resources 24 
8.10 Finance/Administration Section 24 
8.11 Coordination with Policy/Coordination Group 24 
8.12 Coordination with Responders 25 

9 Information Collection 25 
9.1 Types of Information 25 

10 Training and Exercises 25 
10.1 Training 25 

10.1.1 Staff Training 25 
10.1.2 Student Training 26 
10.1.3 Parent/Guardian Training 26 

10.2 Exercises 27 

11 Administration, Finance, and Logistics 27 
11.1 Agreements and Contracts 27 
11.2 Recordkeeping 27 

11.2.1 Administrative Controls 27 
11.2.2 Activity Logs 27 

11.3 Incident Costs 27 
11.3.1 Annual Incident Management Costs 27 



 

 
Shenandoah Emergency Operations Plan   
6/19/19  iii 

11.3.2 Incident Costs 27 
11.4 Preservation of Records 28 

12 Plan Development and Maintenance 28 

Annexes 29 
Crisis Response Manual 29 

Overview 29 
Administrator’s Checklist for Responding to a Crisis 29 
Media Procedures 29 
Crisis Communications 30 
Utilizing the Crisis Response Team 31 
Basic First Aid Priorities 32 
Bus Accident 33 
Catastrophic Injury 35 
Checklist for Telephone Threats 35 
Chemical Spill/Toxic Fumes 37 
Crisis Management Tips 38 
Emergency Numbers 39 
Emergency Steps for Undefined Situations 40 
Fire Emergency Procedures 41 
Gas Leak 41 
Intruder Situations 42 
Lines Down in the Area 43 
Power Failure 43 
Principal Checklist for the Death of a Student’s Parent/Guardian 43 
Principal Checklist for a Student/Staff Death 44 
REPORT OF SUICIDE RISK 44 
Tornado 45 
Water Supply Interruption 46 

Rally and Reunification Protocols 47 
Additional Transportation Information 49 

Alternate Route Plan for Hard Surface Only 49 
Driver’s Contact Information 49 
Emergency Procedures 50 
K-8 Evacuation 53 

Building Maps 54 
Logan Preschool/Administration Building 54 
JK-8 Building 55 
High School 56 

Master Schedules 57 

  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  2 

1 Introduction 

This School Emergency Operations Plan was developed by district personnel in consultation 
and collaboration with Page county emergency management, local law enforcement, and other 
community partners. This plan provides guidance for response to likely threats and hazards 
identified by the planning team in an all-hazards approach. Response activities associate with 
specific threats and crisis situations are identified in the Annexes. 

This plan has been recognized and approved by the following and is effective June 24, 2019. 

1.1 Signatory Page 

___________________________________ 
Dr. Kerri Nelson, Superintendent of Schools 

___________________________________ 
Jean Fichter, Board President 

 

1.2 Approval and Implementation  

This School Emergency Operations Plan operates within the framework of the Shenandoah 
Community School District Board policy.  Any significant changes to this plan require approval 
of the Board and the Superintendent. This plan supersedes all previous plans. 

1.3 Record of Changes  

All changes to this plan must be recorded. 

Change Number Date of Change Name Summary of Change 
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

 

1.4 Record of Distribution  

Title and name of 
person receiving the 
plan 

Agency (school office, 
government agency, or 
private-sector entity) 

Date of delivery Number of 
copies delivered 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  3 

2 Purpose 

The purpose of the Shenandoah Community School District Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) 
is to identify and respond to an incident by outlining the responsibilities and duties of the 
Shenandoah Community School District and its employees, students, and families in an 
emergency.  Development of this plan has been done in collaboration with community response 
partners to ensure coordinated stakeholder participation and to best utilize available resources.  
This planning effort, along with training and exercises, empowers everyone involved in an 
emergency to act quickly and knowledgably.  The plan educates staff, faculty, students, parents, 
and other stakeholders on their roles and responsibilities before, during, and after an incident.  
This plan assures all concerned citizens that Shenandoah Community School District has 
established guidelines and procedures to respond to threats and hazards in an effective way.   

This plan provides an all-hazards approach to dealing with incidents and is inclusive of all 
situations and student populations. The attached Annex provides a systematic approach to 
specific threats and hazards and guidelines for functional activities used in many different threat 
scenarios such as evacuation, reunification, lock-down, and shelter-in-place.  Faculty and staff 
are to be trained to assess the seriousness of incidents and respond according to these 
established procedures and guidelines. The Shenandoah Community School District regularly 
schedules training and drills for employees and students to assure adherence to these 
guidelines, improve response time, and evaluate performance.  

3 Scope 

The Shenandoah Community School District EOP outlines the expectations of staff, defines the 
roles and responsibilities, identifies direction and control systems, identifies internal and external 
communications plans, outlines the frequency and types of training, and defines the roles and 
responsibilities before, during, and after an incident.  This plan also includes references and 
authorities defined by federal, state, and local government mandates and identifies specific 
threats, hazards, vulnerabilities and responses/recovery. 

Hazard: Something that is potentially dangerous or harmful, often the root cause of an 
unwanted outcome. 
Incident: An occurrence, caused by either human action or natural phenomena that may bring 
about harm and may require action. Incidents can include major disasters, emergencies, 
terrorist attacks, terrorist threats, fires, floods, hazardous materials accidents, earthquakes, 
tornadoes, public health and medical emergencies, and other occurrences requiring an 
emergency response. The Building Administrator shall have the authority to determine when an 
incident has occurred and when to implement the procedures contained within this EOP.   
Threat: A natural or manmade occurrence, individual, entity, or action that has or indicates the 
potential to harm life, information, operations, the environment, and/or property. 
Vulnerability: Characteristics of the school that could make it more susceptible to the identified 
threats and hazards. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  4 

4 Situation Overview 

The Shenandoah Community School District has an enrollment of approximately 1145 students 
from 3-year-old preschool to 12th grade.  These students are served on 3 campuses in 
Shenandoah, Iowa.  These students are supported by a committed staff consisting of: 
• 90 Teachers 
• 6 Administrators 
• 7 Office staff 
• 34 Instructional assistants 
• 12 Food service staff 
• 11 Maintenance and custodial staff 
• 15 Transportation staff 
• 7 Non-instructional support staff 

A master schedule of where classes, grade levels, and staff are located during the day is 
located in the district’s student information system which is currently PowerSchool. 
PowerSchool is a hosted platform and can be accessed remotely. 

The Shenandoah Community School District is committed to the safe evacuation and transport 
of students and staff with access and functional needs, which includes students/staff with: 
• Limited English proficiency, 
• Blindness or visual disabilities, 
• Cognitive or emotional disabilities, 
• Deafness or hearing loss, 
• Mobility/physical disabilities (permanent and temporary), and 
• Medically fragile health (including asthma and severe allergies). 

The school’s current enrollment of students with access and functional needs is approximately 
12; however, this number will fluctuate. Students and/or staff may require additional assistance 
if they are temporarily on crutches, wearing casts, etc. 

District High-Priority Hazards 

Flood Flooding is a natural feature of the climate, topography, and hydrology of 
Shenandoah and its surrounding areas.  Flooding predominates throughout the 
spring, summer, and fall due to heavy rains and/or frequent rainy days.   
 
The Nishnabotna River runs about a mile from city limits on the north and west 
sides of town.  All school buildings are located on the south and east sides of 
town.   
 
Flooding could threaten the safety of students and staff whenever storm water or 
other sources of water threaten to inundate school grounds or buildings.  
Flooding may occur if a water pipe breaks. 
 
The Nishnabotna River runs near the community of Farragut. There are no 
school grounds in Farragut but there are locations in town used as bus stops. It 
is necessary to reroute bus traffic when flooding occurs to provide safe 
transportation 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  5 

Severe 
Storm 

Shenandoah and its surrounding areas are vulnerable to severe local storms. 
The effects are generally transportation problems and loss of utilities, but can 
vary with the intensity of the storm, the level of preparation by the Shenandoah 
Community School District, and the equipment and staff available to perform 
tasks to lessen the effects of severe local storms. 
 
In the past, large amounts of heavy snowfall have caused leaks in the roofs.   

Fire Fire hazards are the most prevalent types of threat/hazard. 
Hazardous 
Materials 

Hazardous materials are used for a variety of purposes and are regularly 
transported through many areas in and around Shenandoah.  Currently, 
ammonia, chlorine, and propane are all used and stored on school grounds.  
Shenandoah is a rural community and two school buildings are near fields.  
Many local farmers use anhydrous ammonia and pesticides on their crops.  
Some of these pesticides are applied by aircraft.  Depending on the speed and 
direction of the wind, pesticides could affect the air quality outside of the school 
buildings. 

Active 
Shooter 

While an active shooter incident has never occurred in the Shenandoah 
Community School District, we, like any school district, are vulnerable.  The 
Shenandoah Community School District takes the proactive stance and trains its 
staff in A.L.I.C.E. 

Pandemic An influenza pandemic is a global outbreak of disease that occurs when a new 
flu virus appears that can spread easily from person to person. Because people 
have not been exposed to this new virus before, they have little or no immunity 
to the virus; therefore, serious illness or death is more likely to result than during 
seasonal flu. 
 
The effects of a pandemic can be lessened if preparations are made ahead of 
time. The Shenandoah Community School District is vulnerable to pandemic and 
must understand the school’s impact on the overall illness rates within the 
community.  The Shenandoah Community School District takes the proactive 
stance by providing free immunizations for staff and takes appropriate sanitation 
measures. 

Terrorism The Shenandoah Community School District, like other public institutions, is 
vulnerable to terrorist activity. 

 
District Geographical issues  
• The Shenandoah Community School District serves students in Page, Fremont, Mills, and 

Montgomery County 
• 11 miles to Missouri and 30 miles to Nebraska 
• 17.2 miles to Page County Sheriff’s Office 
• Proximity to power plants (nuclear, ethanol, etc.) and chemical plants  
• Highway and road systems provide limited access to campus 
• Railroad tracks transporting hazardous materials 

Shenandoah PK-12 Schools 

Physical Aspects of the School 
• Available communication equipment/cell phone coverage 

Social/Cultural issues 
• Approximately 10-12 students speak a home language other than English. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  6 

Shenandoah Bus Barn 

Physical Aspects of the School 
• Available communication equipment/cell phone coverage 
• Number of buses-13, vans-4, Suburbans-6 

4.1 Shenandoah Administration Office & Preschool 

4.1.1 School Population 
Current enrollment is approximately 100 three & four-year-old preschool students located in 
one, two-story building on campus.  These students are supported by a staff and faculty that 
consists of:  
• 5 Teachers and specialists 
• 1 Full Time Administrator, 1 Part Time Administrator 
• 5 Office support staff 
• 8 Instructional Assistants 
• 3 Maintenance and custodial staff 

A master schedule of where classes, grade levels, and staff are located during the day is 
located in the district’s student information system which is currently PowerSchool. 
PowerSchool is a hosted platform and can be accessed remotely. 

4.1.2 Building Information 
The Administration Office & Preschool, completed in 1960, is located on an 11.52-acre lot and 
includes three buildings, one football field & track, four tennis courts, one playground, and one 
parking lot.  All classes take place in the main building on campus.  There is a main entrance on 
the east side of the building, with additional preschool public entrance on the south side of the 
building.  There are keyed entrances on the north side of the building and two on the west side 
of the building (one for the basement).  There are also exit only doors on the north and east 
sides of the building. 

A public address system works within the building, but there are operational alarms systems, 
radios, speaker systems on the phone, and bull horns to use in the case of an emergency.  The 
score board on the football field also has an operational speaker system. 

4.1.3 Geographical Issues 
The Shenandoah Administration Office is 0.5 miles from the hospital and 0.8 miles from the fire 
& police stations. 

4.1.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 
The Administration Office & Preschool is exposed to many threats, hazards, and vulnerabilities.  
All of these have the potential for disrupting the school community, causing casualties, and 
damaging or destroying public or private property.  

The interior and exterior of all school buildings and grounds have been assessed for potential 
threats/hazards that may impact the health and safety of students, faculty, staff and property. 
These identified threats/hazards have been assessed are consistent with the district summary. 
One additional threat would be the potential for city sewage to backup through the basement 
drains. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  7 

4.2 Shenandoah Elementary/Middle School 

4.2.1 School Population 
Current enrollment is approximately 757 elementary & middle school students located in one, 
two-story building on campus.  These students are supported by a staff and faculty that consists 
of:  
• 58 Teachers and specialists (4 shared with High School) 
• 2 Full Time Administrators, 1 Part Time Administrator 
• 3 Office support staff 
• 3 Other support staff 
• 18 Instructional assistants 
• 6 Food Service staff 
• 5 Maintenance and custodial staff 

A master schedule of where classes, grade levels, and staff are located during the day is 
located in the district’s student information system which is currently PowerSchool. 
PowerSchool is a hosted platform and can be accessed remotely. 

The School’s current enrollment of students and staff with access and functional needs is 8.  

4.2.2 Building Information 
The Elementary/Middle School, completed in 2002, is located on a 38.51-acre lot and includes 
one building, one playground, and two parking lots.  The elementary students are on the east 
side of the building and the middle school students are on the west side of the building.  There 
are two main entrances located on the south side of the building.  There are also entrances on 
the west side of the building, north side of the building, and others marked on the building maps. 

A map of the building is included in the annex.  Key locations are marked on the map. 

A public address system works within and out of the building. Radios, phone system and bull 
horns are also available. 

4.2.3 Geographical Issues 
The Shenandoah Elementary/Middle School is located 0.9 miles from the hospital and 1.7 miles 
from the fire & police stations. 

4.2.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 
The Elementary/Middle School is exposed to many threats, hazards, and vulnerabilities.  All of 
these have the potential for disrupting the school community, causing casualties, and damaging 
or destroying public or private property.  

The interior and exterior of all school buildings and grounds have been assessed for potential 
threats/hazards that may impact the health and safety of students, faculty, staff and property. 
These identified threats/hazards have been assessed and are consistent with the district. It is a 
two-story building with one elevator. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  8 

4.3 Shenandoah High School 

4.3.1 School Population 
Current enrollment is approximately 332 high-school students located in one, one-story building 
on campus.  These students are supported by a staff and faculty that consists of:  
• 31 Teachers and specialists (4 shared with Elementary/Middle School) 
• 2 Administrators 
• 2 Office support staff 
• 1 Other support staff 
• 8 Instructional assistants 
• 4 Food Service staff 
• 3 Maintenance and custodial staff 

The School’s current enrollment of students or staff with access and functional needs is 4.  

A master schedule of where classes, grade levels, and staff are located during the day is 
located in the district’s student information system which is currently PowerSchool. 
PowerSchool is a hosted platform and can be accessed remotely. 

4.3.2 Building Information 
The High School, completed in 1968, is located on a 45.75-acre lot and includes three buildings, 
two practice fields, running trail and two parking lots.  All classes take place in the main building 
on campus, with horticulture classes utilizing the greenhouse as well.  There is a main entrance 
located on the south-central side of the building.  There are additional main entrances on the 
southeast, southwest, and north-central sides of the building.  In addition, there are six other 
entrances to the building and three garage doors on the north side of the building. 

A map of the building is included in the annex.  Key locations are marked on the map. 

A public address system works within the building with the exception of the FEMA room. 
Radios, phone system and bull horns are available.  

4.3.3 Geographical Issues 
The High School is located 0.8 miles from the hospital and 1.6 miles from the fire & police 
stations. 

4.3.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 
The High School is exposed to many threats, hazards, and vulnerabilities.  All of these have the 
potential for disrupting the school community, causing casualties, and damaging or destroying 
public or private property.  

The interior and exterior of all school buildings and grounds have been assessed for potential 
threats/hazards that may impact the health and safety of students, faculty, staff and property. 
These identified threats/hazards have been assessed by risk and are consistent with the District 
summary. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  9 

4.4 Shenandoah Bus Barn 

4.4.1 School Population 
There are no students enrolled at this facility.  This facility serves the transportation needs of the 
district and includes: 
• 15 Transportation staff 

4.4.2 Building Information 
The Bus Barn is located on a 1.37-acre lot and includes two buildings. 

A map of the building is included in the annex.  Key locations are marked on the map. 

4.4.3 Geographical Issues 
The Bus Barn is located 0.7 miles from the hospital and 0.9 miles from the fire & police stations. 

4.4.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary 
The Bus Barn is exposed to many threats, hazards, and vulnerabilities.  All of these have the 
potential for disrupting the school community, causing casualties, and damaging or destroying 
public or private property.  

The interior and exterior of all school buildings and grounds have been assessed for potential 
threats/hazards that may impact the health and safety of students, faculty, staff and property. 
These identified threats/hazards have been assessed by risk and are consistent with district.  
There is a gasoline tank and larger equipment on the property. There is also a second-floor 
storage area, parking lot across the street and there is limited outdoor light. 

4.5 Resources 
The Shenandoah Community School District’s leadership and planning team realize the 
importance of working with community partners and forming agreements to access services as 
needed. Memorandums of understanding will be formed where needed for support.   

5 Planning Assumptions and Limitations 

5.1 Planning Assumptions 
The Shenandoah Community School District may deviate from this EOP if the following 
assumptions prove not to be true during operations. The EOP assumes: 
• The school community will continue to be exposed and subject to threats/hazards and 

vulnerabilities described in the Threat/Hazard Assessments Summary, as well as lesser 
threats/hazards that may develop in the future. 

• A major disaster could occur at any time, and at any place. In many cases, dissemination of 
warning to the public and implementation of increased readiness measures may be 
possible; however, some emergency situations occur with little or no warning. 

• A single site incident such as a fire, gas main breakage or hazardous materials exposure 
could occur at any time without warning. The employees of the school affected should not 
wait for direction from local response agencies before activating this plan and protecting 
lives and property.  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  10 

• Following a major or catastrophic incident, the district and/or schools may need to rely on its 
own resources and be self-sustaining for up to 72 hours. 

• Assistance from law enforcement, fire, and emergency managers will be available in most 
serious incidents. However, the district and/or school must be prepared to carry out the 
initial response until this external assistance arrives. 

• In most cases, law enforcement or fire service personnel will assume Incident Command, or 
establish unified command, depending on the type of emergency. 

• There may be numerous injuries of varying degrees of seriousness to students, faculty, 
and/or staff. Rapid and appropriate response will reduce the number and severity of injuries. 

• Conducting regular drills and exercises on the threats/hazards identified in this plan can 
improve the districts readiness to respond to incidents and reduce incident-related losses.   

• Incident management will be conducted in a manner consistent with the principles contained 
in the US Department of Homeland Security National Incident Management System 
documentation. 

• An intentional threat against the district, a school, or a student will result in law enforcement 
and security response actions.  

• A large-scale emergency requires an effective and coordinated response between all 
community stakeholders and partners and will help to reduce the impact of the emergency 
on students, faculty, and staff, minimize public concern, and assist in recovery efforts. 

• Buildings in the district shall coordinate their emergency actions with this plan. 

5.2 Limitations 

It is the policy of the Shenandoah Community School District that no guarantee is implied by this 
plan of a perfect incident management system. Because personnel and resources may be 
overwhelmed, the district can only endeavor to make every reasonable effort to manage the 
situation, with the resources and information available at the time. 

6 Concept of Operations  

The information in this section is designed to give an overall picture of incident management 
and explain the district’s overall approach to an emergency. 

Priorities for incident management include: 
• Protect and save lives, and protect health and safety of students, faculty, staff, visitors, 

responders, and recovery workers. 
• Protect property and mitigate damages and impacts to individuals, the community, and the 

environment. 

For the purpose of this plan, we define incidents, emergency, and disaster as: 
Incident - An incident is a situation that is limited in scope and potential effects.  
Emergency - An emergency is a situation that is larger in scope and more severe in terms of 
actual or potential effects than an incident.  
Disaster - A disaster involves the occurrence or threat of significant casualties and/or 
widespread property damage that is beyond the capability of the local government to handle 
with available local resources.  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  11 

This EOP is based on an all-hazards approach and may be activated in its entirety or in part, 
based on the specific needs of the emergency and by decision of district/school leadership.  The 
emergency functions of agencies involved in emergency management will generally parallel 
normal day-to-day operations.  Day-to-day functions that do not contribute directly to the 
emergency may be suspended for the duration of any emergency and/or redirected to 
accomplishment of emergency tasks by the district.  

6.1 Key Areas of Emergency Planning 

In the event of an incident, Shenandoah Community School District, will adhere to the six key 
areas of emergency planning and incident management, which include: 
• Prevention – Consists of actions that reduce risk from human-caused incidents. Prevention 

planning can also help mitigate secondary or opportunistic incidents that may occur after the 
primary incident.    

• Protection – Reduces or eliminates a threat to people, property and the environment.  
Primarily focused on adversarial incidents, the protection of critical infrastructure and key 
resources is vital to local jurisdictions. 

• Mitigation – Mitigation activities are those which eliminate or reduce the probability of a 
disaster occurring. Also included are those long-term activities, which lessen the undesirable 
effects of unavoidable hazards.  

• Preparedness – Preparedness activities serve to develop the response capabilities needed 
in the event an emergency should arise. Planning and training are among the activities 
conducted under this phase.  

• Response – Response is the actual provision of emergency services during a crisis. These 
activities help to reduce casualties and damage, and speed recovery. Response activities 
include evacuation, rescue, and other similar operations.  

• Recovery – Recovery is both a short-term and long-term process. Short-term operations 
seek to restore vital services and provide for the basic needs of students, faculty, and staff. 
Long-term recovery focuses on restoring the school to its normal pre-disaster, or an 
improved, state of affairs. The recovery period is also an opportune time to institute future 
mitigation measures, particularly those related to the recent emergency.  

6.2 National Incident Management System 

The National Incident Management System (NIMS) is a set of principles that provides a 
systematic, proactive approach guiding government agencies at all levels, nongovernmental 
organizations and the private sector, to work seamlessly before, during, and after an event, 
regardless of the cause, magnitude, location or complexity. This system ensures that those 
involved in incident response/recovery understand their roles and have the tools to be effective.  
The ultimate goal of NIMS is to protect and mitigate the impact on life or property.  

The Shenandoah Community School District recognizes that staff and students will act as first 
responders during an incident.  NIMS Training  enables staff and students to respond more 
effectively to an incident and enhances cooperation, coordination, and communication among 
school officials, responders, and emergency managers.   

NIMS compliance for the district and schools includes completing the following: 
1. Adopt the use of the Incident Command System (ICS).   All administrators/supervisors and 

staff who assume roles described in this plan will complete IS-100.SCA: Introduction to 
Incident Command System for Schools.  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  12 

2. Complete NIMS awareness course IS-700: Introduction to NIMS.  The Superintendent and 
district wide Incident Commander will complete IS-700. 

3. Participate in the local government’s NIMS preparedness program and incorporate the 
school plan into the community EOP. 

6.2.1 Communication 
Timely and effective communication is critical to an effective response and recovery.  Direction 
on communications may be found in the annex. Additional information may be obtained through 
the District.   

6.2.2 Initial Response 
School personnel are usually first on the scene of an incident in a school setting.  Staff and 
faculty are expected to take charge and manage the incident until it is resolved or command is 
transferred to someone more qualified and/or an emergency response agency with legal 
authority assumes responsibility.  Faculty and staff will seek guidance and direction from the 
school district and local officials who will function under Unified Command and will seek 
technical assistance from State and Federal agencies and industry where appropriate.   

The Superintendent or his/her designee is responsible for activation of the district-wide EOP.  
The school principal or his/her designee is responsible for activation of the school EOP, 
including all necessary procedures to ensure the protection of life and/or property.  The principal 
or designee will assign an Incident Commander based on who is most qualified for that type of 
incident.   

Incident Command System 

Policy & Public Information Group: 
• Superintendent, Kerri Nelson 
• Board President, Jean Fichter 

o Communication Support 
 Natalie Kirsch, School Messenger, Media, Emergency First Responders 
 Trevor Scanlan, Technology Support 
 Patty Roberts, Bilingual – Spanish/English 

District Wide Incident Commanders 
• Kerri Nelson (Primary) 
• Steve Hielen (Secondary) 

School Site Safety & Security 
• Building Incident Commander: Building Principals, Jason Shaffer, Monte 

Munsinger 
• Incident Command Support Team Leads:  Jon Weinrich, Aaron Burdorf, Tiffany 

Spiegel 
o Support Teams 
 Elementary: Jon Weinrich, Brent Ehlers, Andy Campbell, Brett Roberts 
 Middle SchoolTeam: Jon Weinrich, Brent Ehlers, Andy Campbell, Brett Roberts 
 High School: Aaron Burdorf, Brian Daoust, Ty Ratliff 
 Logan: Tiffany Spiegel, Natalie Kirsch, Richard Morgan-Fine 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  13 

• Transportation Lead: Jon Weinrich  
o Support Team: Holly Scherff, Craig Leigan, Don Nelson, Ashley Pease 

• Water & Food Lead:  Kristin Edwards 
o Support Team: Twyla Clark, Melissa Smithhisler 

• First Aid Lead: Linda Laughlin & Kristy O’Rourke 
o Additional Supports: Shenandoah Medical Center, Amy Reafleng & Ty Davison 
 Office: 712-246-7169 
 Cell: 712-310-3468, Ty Davison 
 Stop the Bleed: Amy Reafleng 

*Reunification 
• Lead: Tiffany Spiegel   

o Student and Staff Information Access:  Anita Baker, Cori Feller, Connie McGinnis, 
Pam Nebel, Wendy Palmer 

o Student Check Out:  Natalie Denton, Sonia Leece, Kerra Ratliff 
o Communication with Staff & Student Support: Maria Blake, Teresa Hughes, Nicole 

Grindle 
o Remain with Students: All teachers and associates 

*Access Law Enforcement as Needed 

Volunteer Coordination 
• Lead: Lisa Holmes 

Finance 
• District Lead:  Sherri Ruzek, Lisa Holmes (Secondary) 
• Building Specific Leads: Kerri Nelson (Primary), Jason Shaffer (Secondary), 

Monte Munsinger (Secondary) 

Crisis Team 
• Lead for District Wide Response: Kerri Nelson (Primary), Tiffany Spiegel 

(Secondary) 
• Lead for Building Specific Response: Tiffany Spiegel (Logan), Monte Munsinger 

(JK-8), Jason Shaffer (High School)  
• General Response: All Administration. If additional support is needed use Level A-C. 

o Level A:  At Risk Staff and School Counselors 
o Level B:  GHAEA, At Risk Staff and School Counselors  
o Level C:  GHAEA, Midwest Mental Health, At Risk Staff and School Counselor 

6.2.3 Implementation of the Incident Command System (ICS) 
In a major emergency or disaster, one or more of the buildings may be damaged or need to be 
evacuated, people may be injured, and/or other incident management activities may need to be 
initiated.  These activities must be organized and coordinated to ensure efficient incident 
management. 

The Incident Command System (ICS) will be used to manage all incidents and major planned 
events.  

The Incident Commander at each school will be delegated the authority to direct all incident 
activities within the school’s jurisdiction.  The Incident Commander will establish an incident 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  14 

command post (ICP) and provide an assessment of the situation to the principal, superintendent 
or other officials, identify incident management resources required, and direct the on-scene 
incident management activities from the ICP.  If no Incident Commander is present at the onset 
of an incident, the most qualified individual will assume command until relieved by a qualified 
Incident Commander.   

An incident warranting multi-jurisdictional resources and emergency response activities will 
employ the Unified Command Structure. 

7 Organization and Assignment of Responsibilities  

The principals are not able to manage all the aspects associated with an incident without 
assistance. The school relies on other key school personnel to perform tasks that will ensure the 
safety of students and staff during a crisis or critical incident. The Incident Command System 
(ICS) uses a team approach to manage incidents. It is difficult to form a team while a crisis or 
critical incident is unfolding. Roles should be pre-assigned based on training and qualifications. 
Each staff member and volunteer must be familiar with his or her role and responsibilities before 
an incident occurs. 

School staff may be required to remain at school to assist in an incident. In the event that this 
EOP is activated, staff will be assigned to serve within the ICS based on their expertise and 
training and the needs of the incident. 

7.1 Organization 

Emergency Management for Shenandoah Community School District is comprised of the 
following: 

7.1.1 The Policy Group  
• Superintendent, Dr. Kerri Nelson  
• School Board President, Jean Fichter or School Board  

 
In complex incidents, the Policy Group will be convened at the Superintendent’s Office in the 
Logan Administration Building.  The role of the Policy Group is to:  
• Support the on-scene Incident Commander with strategic guidance, information analysis, and 

needed resources 
• Provide policy and strategic guidance  
• Help to ensure that adequate resources are available  
• Identify and resolve issues common to all organizations  
• Keep elected officials and other executives informed of the situation and decisions.  
• Provide factual information, both internally and externally through the Joint Information 

Center (JIC) 

7.1.2 School Site Safety and Security 
The Director of Maintenance & Operations, Steve Hielen is responsible for all aspects of 
maintenance and operations and is a key team member for emergency management planning 
and operations for the school.  Upon the activation of the EOP for a school incident, Steve 
Hielen will assume the role as incident commander for the district unless delegated. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  15 

7.1.3 District or School Departments 
District and school departments will support emergency response operations through 
performance of their normal roles and responsibilities.  If called upon, school departments will 
activate personnel and implement appropriate response actions identified in the plan, or as 
directed by the Incident Commander or school administration. 

Activation of the ICS for a school event may be modified as needed to best serve the nature of 
the incident. When the ICS is activated, staff will direct the efforts of their departments according 
to their respective procedures for emergency operations.  

Department Duties and Responsibilities 
Transportation Upon learning of an incident, the Transportation Supervisor will report 

directly to the Incident Commander for assignment unless otherwise 
notified. 

Operations 
 

Upon learning of an incident, the Director of Maintenance and Operations 
will assume the role of Incident Commander and report directly to the 
Superintendent. 

Business and 
Finance 
 

Upon learning of an incident, the School Business Official will report directly 
to the Incident Commander for assignment unless otherwise notified. 

Technology 
 

Upon learning of an incident, the Information Technology Director will report 
directly to the Incident Commander for assignment unless otherwise 
notified. 

Food and 
Nutrition 

Upon learning of an incident, the Food Service Director will report directly to 
the Incident Commander for assignment unless otherwise notified. 

 

7.2 Responsibilities 

7.2.1 District Incident Commander: Steve Hielen, Director of Maintenance and 
Operations 

Responsibilities include: 
• Assume overall direction of all incident management procedures based on actions and 

procedures outlined in this EOP. 
• Take steps deemed necessary to ensure the safety of students, staff, and other individuals. 
• Determine whether to implement incident management protocols (e.g., Evacuation, Reverse 

Evacuation, Shelter in Place, Lockdown, etc.).  
• Arrange for transfer of students, staff, and other individuals when safety is threatened by a 

disaster. 
• Work with emergency services personnel. (Depending on the incident, community agencies 

such as law enforcement or the fire department may have jurisdiction for investigations, 
rescue procedures, etc.) 

• Keep the principals and other officials informed of the situation. 

7.2.2 Building Administrator 
The principal may serve as the Incident Commander or delegate that authority to a qualified 
individual. At all times, the principal retains the responsibility for the overall safety of students 
and staff. However, delegating the authority to manage the incident allows the principal to focus 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  16 

on policy-level activities and interfacing with other agencies and parents. The principal shall 
coordinate between the policy group and the Incident Commander.  

7.2.3 Teachers  
Teachers shall be responsible for the supervision of students and shall remain with students 
until directed otherwise.  

Responsibilities include:  
• Supervise students under their charge.  
• Take steps to ensure the safety of students, staff, and other individuals in the 

implementation of incident management protocols. 
• Direct students in their charge to inside or outside assembly areas, in accordance with 

signals, warning, written notification, or intercom orders according to established incident 
management procedures. 

• Give appropriate action command during an incident. 
• Take attendance when class relocates to an outside or inside assembly area or evacuates 

to another location. 
• Report missing students to the Incident Commander or designee. 
• Execute assignments as directed by the Incident Commander. 
• Obtain first aid services for injured students from the school nurse or person trained in first 

aid. Arrange for first aid for those unable to be moved. 
• Render first aid if necessary. School staff should be trained and certified in first aid and 

CPR. 

7.2.4 Associates 
Responsibilities include assisting their assigned student and assisting teachers as directed if 
special needs students are safe.  

7.2.5 Counselors, Social Workers, and Psychologists  
Counselors, social workers, and psychologists provide assistance with the overall direction of 
the incident management procedures at the site. 

Responsibilities may include:  
• Take steps to ensure the safety of students, staff, and other individuals in the 

implementation of incident management protocols.  
• Direct students in their charge according to established incident management protocols.  
• Render first aid and psychological first aid if necessary. Counselors will be trained in 

psychological first aid. 
• Assist in the transfer of students, staff, and other individuals when their safety is threatened 

by a disaster.  
• Execute assignments as directed by the Incident Commander. 

7.2.6 School Nurses  
Responsibilities include:  
• Administer first aid or emergency treatment as needed.  
• Supervise administration of first aid by those trained to provide it.  
• Organize first aid and medical supplies.  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  17 

7.2.7 Custodians/Maintenance Personnel  
Responsibilities include:  
• Survey and report building damage to the Incident Commander. 
• Control main shutoff valves for gas, water, and electricity and ensure that no hazard results 

from broken or downed lines.  
• Provide damage control as needed.  
• Assist in the conservation, use, and disbursement of supplies and equipment.  
• Keep Incident Commander or designee informed of condition of school.  

7.2.8 School Secretary/Office Staff  
Responsibilities include:  
• Assist in the school site assessments. 
• Answer phones and assist in receiving and providing consistent information to callers.  
• Provide for the safety of essential school records and documents.  
• Execute assignments as directed by the Incident Commander. 
• Provide assistance to the principals and Policy/Coordination Group.  
• Monitor radio emergency broadcasts.  
• Assist with health incidents as needed. (i.e., acting as messengers, etc.)  

7.2.9 Food Service Workers  
Responsibilities include:  
• Use, prepare, and serve food and water on a rationed basis whenever the feeding of 

students and staff becomes necessary during an incident.  
• Execute assignments as directed by the Incident Commander. 

7.2.10 Transportation/Bus Drivers  
Responsibilities include:  
• Supervise the care of students if disaster occurs while students are in the bus.  
• Transfer students to new location when directed.  
• Execute assignments as directed by the Incident Commander. 
• Transport individuals in need of medical attention.  

7.2.11 Other Staff (Substitute Teachers)  
Responsibilities include reporting to the Incident Commander if requested or activated.  

7.2.12 Students  
Responsibilities include:  
• Cooperate during emergency drills and exercises, and during an emergency situation. 
• Learn to be responsible for themselves and others if the emergency situation warrants. 
• Understand the importance of not being a bystander by reporting situations of concern to 

appropriate staff.  
• Develop a general awareness of natural, technological, and human-caused hazards and 

associated prevention, preparedness, and mitigation measures.  

7.2.13 Parents/Guardians  
Responsibilities include:  
• Understanding their roles during a school emergency.  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  18 

• Encourage and support school safety, violence prevention, and incident preparedness 
programs within the school.  

• Participate in volunteer service projects for promoting school incident preparedness.  
• Provide the school with requested information concerning the incident, early and late 

dismissals, and other related release information.  
• Practice incident management preparedness in the home to reinforce school training and 

ensure family safety.  
• Report any suspicious activities to the school that raises concern for the health and safety of 

students and/or staff. 

8 Direction, Control, and Coordination  

8.1 Incident Command  
The Incident Command System (ICS) organizational structure can be modified to adjust to the 
size and complexity of the incident, as well as the specifics of the hazard environment created 
by the incident. As incident complexity increases, the organizational structure expands as 
functional responsibilities are delegated.  

This EOP will be activated using implementation of the ICS. When needed, separate functional 
elements will be established and subdivided to enhance internal organizational management 
and external coordination. 

The Policy Group is responsible for providing the Incident Commander with strategic guidance, 
information analysis, and needed resources. The Executive/Senior Leadership (Principal, 
Superintendent, etc.) has the authority to make decisions, commit resources, obligate funds, 
and command the resources necessary to protect the students and facilities.  These 
responsibilities do not mean that the Executive/Senior Leadership assumes a command role 
over the on-scene incident operation.  Rather, the Executive/Senior Official: 
• Provides policy guidance on priorities and objectives based on situational needs and the 

EOP.   
• Oversees resource coordination and support to the on-scene command from an Operations 

Center. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  19 

8.2 Incident Management  
The school ICS may be organized into the following functional areas:  

 
 

 

Organization Expansion 

 

The School/District Incident Commander will be integrated into the Incident Command structure 
or assume a role within a Unified Command structure. 

Establishes incident 
objectives and directs 
all response actions. 

Provides strategic guidance 
and resource support 

Planning 
Section 

Logistics 
Section 

Finance/Administration 
Section 

Policy Group  
Incident 

Command 

Operations Section 

Liaison Officer 

Command Staff: 

The Command Staff 
provide information, 
safety, and liaison 
services for the entire 
organization. 

Incident 
Command 

General Staff: 

The General Staff are 
assigned functional 
authority for 
Operations, Planning, 
Logistics, and 
Finance/Administration 

Safety Officer 

Operations 
Section 

Finance/Admin 
Section 

Planning 
Section 

Public Information 
Officer 

Logistics 
Section 

Activated, only as needed, to support the incident response 
directed by the Operations Section. 

Implements all response/ 
tactical actions to achieve 

the incident objectives. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  20 

If a school emergency is within the authority of the first-responder community (i.e. emergency 
requiring law enforcement or fire services, etc.), Command will transition to the appropriate 
agency and a Unified Command structure will be formed.  In the event there is a transfer of 
command, a briefing between individuals transferring command shall occur. 

8.3 Incident Command Post  

Every incident must have some form of an Incident Command Post.  The ICP is the location 
from which the Incident Commander oversees all incident operations.  There is generally only 
one ICP for each incident, but it may change locations during the event. The ICP also provides 
a location where operations may be conducted under the Incident/Unified Command System.  
 
The ICP will be positioned outside of the present and potential hazard zone, but located within 
safe proximity to the emergency site. The ICP is generally responsible for incident response 
management as follows: 
• Serves as a temporary field location for tactical-level on-scene incident command and 

management.  
• Provides an on-site headquarters for the Incident Commander, Command Staff, and 

General Staff.  
• Serves as a field collection point for tactical intelligence and analysis. 
• The Incident Command Post provides the initial securing of the perimeter of the area, 

coordinates the actions of the operating units, and remains operational during the field 
actions (rescue, response, recovery, etc.) as required.  

8.4 Incident Commander 

The Incident Commander (IC) is the primary person in charge at the incident and will establish 
incident objectives based on the following five primary objectives: 
• Life Safety  
• Protect Public Health 
• Incident Stabilization 
• Property and Environment Preservation 
• Reduce adverse psychological consequences and disruptions 

 
Additionally, the IC will manage the incident scene. He or she must keep the Executive/Senior 
Administration and the Policy Group informed and up-to-date on important matters pertaining to 
the incident. 

The first staff person on scene will assume the role of Incident Commander until a more 
qualified individual can assume command.   School-related responsibilities and duties include:  
• Exercise the authority to direct tactical on-scene operations until a coordinated incident 

management framework can be established with local resources. 
• Establish an Incident Command Post (ICP) and provide an assessment of the situation to 

the Executive/Senior Administration, which may also include the Policy Group or other 
officials, recommend incident response activities, identify incident management resources 
required, and direct the on-scene incident management activities from the ICP. 

• Establish and manage the Command Post, establish the incident organization, and 
determine strategies to implement protocols and adapt as needed.  

• Monitor incident safety conditions and develop measures for ensuring the safety of building 
occupants (including students, staff, volunteers, and responders).  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  21 

• Coordinate media relations and information dissemination with the Principal.  
• Serve as the primary on-scene contact for outside agencies assigned to the incident, 

establish unified command as necessary, develop working knowledge of local/regional 
agencies, and assist in accessing services when the need arises.  

• Document activities.  
• Assume overall direction of all incident management procedures based on actions and 

procedures outlined in this EOP.  
• Determine whether to implement incident management protocols (e.g., Evacuation, Shelter-

in-Place, Lockdown, etc.), as described in the appropriate Functional Annex in this 
document.  

• Arrange for transfer of students, staff, and other individuals when safety is threatened by a 
disaster.  

• Work with emergency services personnel.  
• Keep the Executive/Senior Leadership and Policy Group informed of the situation.  

8.5 Unified Command 

Unified Command applies ICS to incidents involving multiple jurisdictions or agencies. It enables 
schools and agencies with different legal, geographic, and functional responsibilities to 
coordinate, plan, and interact effectively.   

The Incident Commanders within the Unified Command will make joint decisions and speak as 
one voice.  Any differences are worked out within Unified Command.  Each Incident 
Commander is responsible for overseeing the actions of their individual agencies. For example, 
within Unified Command, law enforcement would not tell school personnel how to manage 
activities associated with threat/hazard or functional annexes (i.e. parent-student reunification, 
etc.).  The following occurs under Unified Command: 
• The Incident Commander, through the Incident/Unified Command System, coordinates the 

actions of their responding unit on the scene.  
• Advises School Leadership and the District of needs that may include resources or 

personnel from other departments/schools as required. 
• Isolates the incident site and maintains control of the inner and outer perimeters. 
• Establishes tactical communications and designates a primary radio channel.  
• Facilitates tactical planning and contingency planning. 
• Briefs first responder personnel. 
• Designates a staging area for supporting agencies. 
• Ensures documentation of decisions and activities. 
• Provides situational updates to the Policy Group. 
• Approves requests for additional resources or for the release of resources.  
• Approves additional alerts as needed. 
• Establishes immediate priorities. 
• Coordinates any specific transportation issues (such as helicopter landing zones, EMS 

locations, morgue location, etc., as appropriate). 
• Determines security boundaries.  
• Performs other duties as required by the situation.  
• Ensures the completion of an incident After Action Report (AAR). 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  22 

8.6 Public Information Officer 

The Public Information Officer (PIO) – Superintendent or designee - is responsible for 
interfacing with the media or other appropriate agencies requiring information directly from the 
incident. 
• Check in with Incident Commander and receive a situation brief.  
• If necessary, establish and supervise a Joint Information Center (JIC) with PIO’s from the 

other responder agencies. 
• Coordinate press releases among response organizations. 
• Designate a media center and facilitate scheduled press briefings. 
• Ensure all press releases and public information are reviewed and approved by the Incident 

Commander, or designee.  
• Monitor news media outlets reports of the incident. 
• Prepare periodic briefings to Executive Policy Group on public information activities and 

submit draft press releases for review and approval. 
 

8.7 Operations Section 

The Operations Section directs all tactical operations of an incident including implementation of 
response/recovery activities according to established incident management procedures and 
protocols, care of students, first aid, psychological first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students to parents.  
Responsibilities and duties may include:  
• Analyze school staffing to develop a Parent-Student Reunification Plan, and implement an 

Incident Action Plan.  
• Monitor site utilities (i.e., electric, gas, water, heat/ventilation/air conditioning) and shut off 

only if danger exists or directed by Incident Commander, and assist in securing the facility.  
• Establish medical triage with staff trained in first aid and CPR, provide and oversee care 

given to injured persons, distribute supplies, and request additional supplies from the 
Logistics Section.  

• Provide access to psychological first aid services for those in need, and access 
local/regional providers for ongoing crisis counseling for students, staff, and parents.  

• Coordinate the rationed distribution of food and water, establish secondary toilet facilities in 
the event of water or plumbing failure, and request needed supplies from the Logistics 
Section.  

• Document all activities. 
 

As needed, the teams described in the following table may be established: 

Strike Team Potential Responsibilities 
First Aid Team First Aid Teams provide triage, treatment, and psychological first aid 

services. Other responsibilities of the First Aid Team include: 
• Setting up first aid stations for students 
• Assessing and treating injuries 
• Completing the master injury report 

Note: The Logistics Section provides first aid to responders.  This team is 
dedicated to students, faculty, staff, or visitors.  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  23 

Strike Team Potential Responsibilities 
Evacuation/ 
Shelter/Care 
Team 

Evacuation, shelter, and student care includes accounting for students, 
protection from weather, providing for sanitation needs, and providing food 
and water. Other responsibilities include: 
• Accounting for the whereabouts of all students, staff, and volunteers 
• Setting up a secure assembly area 
• Managing sheltering and sanitation operations 
• Managing student feeding and hydration 
• Coordinating with the Student Release Team 
• Coordinating with the Logistics to secure space and supplies 

Facility Security 
Response Team 
Admin/Custodial 

The Facility Security and Response Team is responsible for: 
• Locating all utilities and turning them off, if necessary 
• Securing and isolating fire/hazmat 
• Assessing and notifying officials of fire/hazmat 
• Conducting perimeter control 

Crisis Response 
Team  

The Crisis Response Team is responsible for: 
• Assessing need for onsite mental health support 
• Determining the need for outside agency assistance 
• Providing onsite intervention/counseling 
• Monitoring well-being of school Incident Management Team, staff, and 

students, and reporting findings to the Operations Section Chief 
Student Release 
Team 
 
 

Reunification refers to reuniting students with their parents or guardians in 
an efficient, safe, and orderly manner.  Reunification can be an enormous 
challenge and takes a lot of planning.  The Student Release Team is 
responsible for: 
• Setting up secure reunion area 
• Checking student emergency cards for authorized releases 
• Completing release logs 
• Coordinating with the Public Information Officer on external messages 

Search and 
Rescue Team 
 
 

Search and Rescue Teams search the entire school facility, entering only 
after they have checked for signs of structural damage and determined 
that it is safe to enter.  Search & Rescue Teams are responsible for 
ensuring that all students and staff evacuate the building, or if it is unsafe 
to move an individual, that their location is documented so professional 
responders can locate them easily and extricate them. Other 
responsibilities include: 
• Identifying and marking unsafe areas 
• Conducting initial damage assessment 
• Obtaining injury and missing student reports from teachers 
Will be used at the direction, guidance and assistance of law enforcement, 
EMS and Fire Department. 

8.8 Planning Section 

Collects, evaluates, and disseminates information needed to measure the size, scope, and 
seriousness of an incident, and to plan appropriate incident management activities.  

 
 
 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  24 

Responsibilities and duties may include:  
• Assist Incident Commander in the collection and evaluation of information about an incident 

as it develops (including site map and area map of related events), assist with ongoing 
planning efforts, and maintain incident time log.  

• Document all activities  

8.9 Logistics Section 

Supports incident management operations by securing and providing needed personnel, 
equipment, facilities, resources, and services required for incident resolution; coordinating 
personnel; assembling and deploying volunteer teams; and facilitating communication among 
incident responders. This function may involve a major role in an extended incident.  

Additional responsibilities and duties may include:  
• Establish and oversee communications center and activities during an incident (two-way 

radio, battery-powered radio, written updates, etc.), and develop telephone tree for after-
hours communication.  

• Establish and maintain school and classroom preparedness kits, coordinate access to and 
distribution of supplies during an incident, and monitor inventory of supplies and equipment.  

• Document all activities.  

8.9.1 Sources and Use of Resources  
The Shenandoah Community School District will use its own resources and equipment to 
respond to incidents until incident response personnel arrive. Shenandoah Medical Center, 
Shenandoah Police Department, Shenandoah Fire Department are local resources able to 
assist in the event of an emergency. 

8.10 Finance/Administration Section 

Oversees all financial activities including purchasing necessary materials, tracking incident 
costs, arranging contracts for services, timekeeping for emergency responders, submitting 
documentation for reimbursement, and recovering school records following an incident.  

Additional responsibilities and duties may include:  
• Assume responsibility for overall documentation and recordkeeping activities; when 

possible, photograph or videotape damage to property.  
• Develop a system to monitor and track expenses and financial losses, and secure all 

records.  

The Finance and Administration Section may not be established onsite at the incident. Rather, 
the school and/or school district management offices may assume responsibility for these 
functions.  

8.11 Coordination with Policy/Coordination Group 

The superintendent/building administrator and Incident Commander will keep the 
Policy/Coordination Group informed. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  25 

8.12 Coordination with Responders 

If a school incident is within the authorities of the responder community, command will be 
transferred upon the arrival of qualified responders. A transfer of command briefing shall occur. 
The school Incident Commander may be integrated into a community Incident Command 
structure or assume a role within a Unified Command structure that is used by community 
responders. 

9 Information Collection 

9.1 Types of Information 

Before, during, and after an incident, school officials will assign administrative staff to monitor 
the weather, local law enforcement alerts.  This information will be shared with school principals 
with any immediate actions required identified.   

10 Training and Exercises  

The development of the EOP training and exercise schedule is key to the success of a school or 
district’s ability to respond to an emergency. It is imperative that all school faculty and staff have 
a general understanding of their roles and responsibilities and are trained on all standard 
operating procedures and guidelines associated with emergency response. Training and 
exercises provide the opportunity to increase understanding and implementation of these 
protocols.   

• EOP training opportunities shall be incorporated into the annual school calendar. 
• Review and update (if necessary) of the EOP shall be incorporated into the annual school 

calendar. 
• Each school unit or department identified as having a role in this EOP is responsible for 

communicating the content of the EOP to staff and ensuring opportunities to attend and 
participate in EOP training and exercise activities.  

Training and exercises will be documented including date(s), type of training or exercise, and 
participant roster. 

10.1 Training 

All Shenandoah Community School District staff and students will receive training during the 
school year to better prepare them for an incident.  Parents and guardians will receive 
information about the plan through the district’s website. 

10.1.1 Staff Training 
Basic training and refresher training sessions will be conducted as part of the staff professional 
development schedule for the school year for all school personnel. 

Mandatory staff training will include: 
• Threat/hazard and incident awareness training for all staff. 
• Orientation to the School EOP 
• First aid and CPR for all staff. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  26 

• Team training to address specific incident response or recovery activities, such as Family 
Reunification and Relocation. 

• Two online FEMA courses: ICS 100 (administrators & supervisors) and IS-700 
(Superintendent & Incident Commander). Both courses are available without charge at 
FEMA’s Emergency Management Institute Website. 
 

Requirement Admin Teachers Support Staff Substitutes Students Coaches 
After School 
Event Emergency 
Plans – Flip Chart  

X     X 

ALICE Course X      
ALICE Online X X X X  X 
ALICE Overview X X X X X X 
Bloodbourne 
Pathogens 

X X X X  X 

Chemical Right to 
Know 

X X X X  X 

CPR X X X   X 
(Seniors) 

X 

Crisis Response 
Manual – Flip 
Chart 

X X X X   
 
 

ICS 100 x      

ICS 700 Supt. & 
District IC 

     

Stop the Bleed 
(1 per wing & 
assigned staff on 
rotating basis) 

X X X    

Suicide 
Prevention 

X X X   X 

 

All Shenandoah Community School District staff members are expected to develop personal 
and family emergency plans. Each family should anticipate that a staff member may be required 
to remain at school following a catastrophic event. Knowing that the family is prepared and can 
handle the situation will enable school staff to do their jobs more effectively.  

10.1.2 Student Training 
All students will receive age-appropriate training on the importance of preparedness and 
participating in exercises. 

10.1.3 Parent/Guardian Training 
Parents/guardians will be provided the opportunity to access information regarding school 
response procedures via the Shenandoah Community School District website. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  27 

10.2 Exercises 

Drills will be conducted in consistent with state requirements. Additionally, a drill requiring a 
larger response will be conducted at least once per school year in coordination with local law 
enforcement and the fire department, Page County Sherriff, and Page County Emergency 
Management.  

11 Administration, Finance, and Logistics 

11.1 Agreements and Contracts 

If school resources prove to be inadequate during an incident, the Shenandoah Community 
School District will request assistance from local law enforcement and Page County emergency 
services, and Shenandoah Medical Center. Such assistance includes equipment, supplies, 
and/or personnel. Memorandums of understanding will be developed with providers as 
necessary to access the assistance as needed. 

11.2 Recordkeeping 

11.2.1 Administrative Controls 
The Shenandoah Community School District is responsible for establishing the administrative 
controls necessary to manage the expenditure of funds and to provide reasonable accountability 
and justification for expenditures made to support incident management operations. These 
administrative controls will be done in accordance with the established local fiscal policies and 
standard cost accounting procedures. 

11.2.2 Activity Logs 
The ICS Section Chiefs will maintain accurate logs recording key incident management 
activities, including: 
• Activation or deactivation of incident facilities. 
• Significant changes in the incident situation. 
• Major commitments of resources or requests for additional resources from external sources. 
• Issuance of protective action recommendations to the staff and students. 
• Evacuations. 
• Casualties. 
• Containment or termination of the incident. 

11.3 Incident Costs 

11.3.1 Annual Incident Management Costs 
The ICS Finance and Administration Section is responsible for maintaining records summarizing 
the use of personnel, equipment, and supplies to obtain an estimate of annual incident response 
costs that can be used in preparing future school budgets. 

11.3.2 Incident Costs 
The ICS Finance and Administration Section Chief will maintain detailed records of costs for 
incident management and operations to include: 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  28 

• Personnel costs, especially overtime costs, 
• Equipment operations costs, 
• Costs for leased or rented equipment, 
• Costs for contract services to support incident management operations, and 
• Costs of specialized supplies expended for incident management operations. 

These records may be used to recover costs from the responsible party or insurers or as a basis 
for requesting financial assistance for certain allowable response and recovery costs from the 
State and/or Federal government. 

11.4 Preservation of Records 

In order to continue normal school operations following an incident, vital records must be 
protected. These include legal documents and student files as well as property and tax records. 
The principal causes of damage to records are fire and water; therefore, essential records will 
be protected accordingly. The district has digitally archived many essential records and 
subscribes to a backup service.  Historic board minutes need to be digitally archived. 

12 Plan Development and Maintenance  

The Shenandoah Community School District EOP integrates with school and district policy and 
procedures and a number of stakeholder EOPs or guidelines. The District EOP utilizes existing 
program expertise and personnel to support prevention, protection, mitigation, preparedness, 
response, and recovery efforts. The EOP is has been developed referencing information 
provided by the Iowa Department of Education, A.L.I.C.E. training and protocols, Iowa High 
School Athletic Association’s After School Event Emergency Plans, the Shenandoah 
Community School District Crisis Response Plan, and components and principles of the 
National Incident Management System (NIMS) and Incident Command System (ICS). Other 
resources from the Shenandoah Medical Center and Green Hills AEA were also referenced.  
Local law enforcement and Page County Emergency management were also consulted. 

The Shenandoah Community School District shall oversee or coordinate with applicable 
partners to conduct the following: 
• The EOP shall be reviewed annually and modified as necessary by the Superintendent, 

Incident Commander, and District Administrators.  
• The District EOP shall coordinate with external agencies that may be affected by EOP 

implementation, in an effort to ensure consistency and compatibility with jurisdictional plans. 
• If updates of the EOP involve substantive changes, they will be submitted for board 

approval.   
• Each school unit or department identified as having a role in this EOP is responsible for 

communicating the content of the EOP and all updates to staff. 
• Each school identified in this plan is responsible for ensuring key staff has the opportunity to 

attend EOP training and exercise activities.  
• The District will ensure EOP compliance with the applicable local, state, and federal laws 

and procedures.  

  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  29 

Annexes 

Response to Specific Threats, Hazard’s and Crisis Situations 

All staff are provided a copy of the Crisis Response Manual and After School Events 
Emergency Plans and are required to become familiar with the outlined response protocols. 

All staff are required to complete a series of emergency preparedness trainings and be familiar 
with protocols.  In addition, all staff are required know the location of the nearest “white bucket” 
to use in the event of an emergency situation requiring a lock down, shelter, evacuation, or 
reunification.  White buckets contain general supplies and items that would be helpful in the 
event of an emergency or need to lock down and shelter for an extended amount of time. 

Crisis Response Manual 

Overview 
The purpose of this manual is to provide building administrators, counselors and staff with a 
quick reference guide to use in a crisis.  It is the philosophy of the Shenandoah Community 
School that a pre-planned and organized approach is most effective to reduce psychological 
and social difficulties following a crisis in school. 

The Crisis Response Manual includes procedures which are designed to deal with a number of 
crises that could occur in the district.  These procedures do not cover every condition that might 
develop and it may not always be possible to follow every procedural step.  This manual is 
designed to be used in conjunction with your building emergency procedures. 
 

Administrator’s Checklist for Responding to a Crisis 
● Call 911 for emergency services.  If it is necessary to send anyone to the hospital by 

ambulance, send the school nurse or other staff member along to serve as a liaison 
between the hospital and school with instructions to relay information back to the school as 
soon as possible. 

● Call parent/guardian/spouse/relative 
● Call Superintendent, 246-1581 (O), or 319-329-0359 (C) 
● Notify Crisis Response Team 
 

Media Procedures 
The only means to inform the general public is by mass media.  Therefore, it is important to 
ensure that the media receive prompt, accurate information.  Isolated quotes from individuals 
can be incomplete or misleading and should be avoided. 

After calling appropriate emergency personnel and following safety procedures: 
● Notify the Superintendent’s office. 
● Refer all media requests to the Superintendent 
● Inform office staff of the situation and refer phone inquiries to the Superintendent’s office. 
● Only Superintendent or designee speak to media. 
● With written permission from the Superintendent, media personnel will be allowed in the 

building. 
 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  30 

Always prepare for media communications and have your key message prepared. Some 
recommendations for responded are listed here. 
 
Before an Interview  
• Develop a relationship with local reporters, know their deadlines and the types of stories 

they cover.   
• Know the subject of the interview. Ask the reporter ahead of time the topic of the story and 

the kinds of questions he or she would like to address. Anticipate probable questions and 
plan your response. 

• Review any background information and gather information to give the reporter. 
• Know your goal for the interview. Consider the three major points you’d like to make.   
During the Interview 
• Concentrate on communicating your key message. 
• Always speak using plain language. 
• Speak in “headlines”. Offer conclusions first, briefly and directly, then back it with facts or 

details. Don’t over answer. Short answers are better than long answers. 
• Always be honest. Never lie to a reporter. 
• Three acceptable responses to a reporter’s question:  I know and I’ll tell you. I don’t know. I 

know but I can’t tell you.  When you don’t know try to get back to the reporter.  The last 
response – I know but I can’t tell you – should only be used rarely and in cases of 
student/staff confidentially protected by FERPA or other legal requirements. Seek 
legal guidance if necessary. 

• Frame your response in a positive statement. Some topics are difficult to respond to in a 
positive manner.  It is okay to acknowledge something didn’t go well, but state it in a manner 
than conveys concern for what happened and what next steps might be. 

• If you don’t want to see it in print, don’t say it. Always assume that they are using a 
recording device of some kind. 

• Avoid saying “no comment”. If it can’t be discussed, share why (confidentiality, legal 
reasons, or insufficient information). Seek legal guidance if necessary. 

• Stay calm and show appropriate show appropriate emotion. If you get angry, don’t argue 
with the reporter. Take a moment to calm down and think before you answer a question that 
you find offensive or difficult to talk about. 

• Don’t tell the reporter how to write a story and don’t ask to see a story before it is printed. 
When Dealing with a Negative News Story 
• Don’t try to cover up bad news. Be the first with good news and bad news. 
• Use designate a point person for communication and use key messages so the facts are 

accurately portrayed. Fact check your information before sharing. 
• Don’t lecture the reporter about how this story will “hurt” education or the school district. 
• Keep it simple and stick to the facts. Don’t inject personal opinion or guess what might have 

happened.  
 

Crisis Communications 
● Always respond to the emergency first.  If first aid or emergency personnel are 

warranted, the school employee should take the necessary steps to handle the situation.  
Ask another school employee to dial 911 or notify the school nurse.  The injured person 
should never be left unattended by a school employee. 

● Notify the parents.  Once the Principal is apprised of the situation, he or she should begin 
procedures to notify the parents/guardian of the child.  If the injured party is a school 
employee, a spouse or next of kin should be notified.  The Principal should give the 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  31 

notification if possible.  Otherwise, someone on the office staff should make the call.  NOTE:  
If a parent/guardian cannot be reached, a message should be left.  If there is no answering 
machine, the office staff should continue to try to reach next of kin or the parent at 5-minute 
intervals, until someone is reached. 

● Notify Administration Office. The next call from the Principal or office staff should be to 
the administration office.  Should emergency vehicles respond and the child not be 
transported, go ahead and make the call to the administration office anyway. Questions 
about the presence of an emergency vehicle on campus may come into the administration 
office and the staff there needs to be updated periodically on what is happening. 

● Crisis Response Team Activated.  The Superintendent or designee will take the 
necessary steps to notify the Crisis Response Team, should the need arise.  The 
Superintendent or administrative designee will make the decision as to the level of response 
and need for outside agencies. 

 
General Response: All Administration.  If additional assistance is necessary consider the 
appropriate level of response. 
 
Level A:  At Risk Staff and Guidance Counselors 
Level B:  GHAEA, At Risk Staff and Guidance Counselors  
Level C:  GHAEA, Midwest Mental Health, At Risk Staff and Guidance Counselor 

Crisis Team Lead for District Wide Response:  Kerri Nelson (Primary), Tiffany Spiegel 
(Secondary) 
Crisis Team Lead for Building Specific Response: Tiffany Spiegel (Logan), Monte 
Munsinger (K-8), Jason Shaffer (High School)  
 

Utilizing the Crisis Response Team 
The Crisis Response Team is a supportive service which can help schools assess, plan and 
intervene in crises affecting staff and students.  A pre-planned, organized approach has been 
shown to be effective in reducing the emotional and social impact of a crisis. 

Crisis Response Team Services 
● Meet with Principals and key staff to formulate an action plan. 
● Assist in handling media coverage. 
● Facilitate a staff meeting to provide information related to the crisis. 
● Support the school staff. 
● Help teachers process information with students. 
● Work with students individually or in groups. 
● Be available for contact with parents. 
● Provide helpful, factual information to parents. 
 

To contact the Crisis Response Team call: 
Team Member                  Work Phone                Home Phone              Cell Phone 
Dr. Kerri Nelson 712-246-1581 319-329-0359 319-329-0359 

Jason Shaffer 712-246-2520 712-246-2502 712-215-5531 

Monte Munsinger 712-246-2520 712-246-3356 712-246-8415 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  32 

Steve Hielen 712-246-1581 712-246-8455 712-246-8455 

Jon Weinrich 712-246-2815 712-370-4560 712-490-5481 

Linda Laughlin 712-246-4727 712-242-7616 402-660-5697 

Kristin Edwards 712-246-2520 712-246-8306 712-246-8306 

Aaron Burdorf 712-246-4727 515-520-7640 515-520-7640 

Heather Weiss 712-246-4727 712-246-5041 712-246-8010 

Tiffany Spiegel 712-246-2520 402-490-0912 402-490-0912 

Brenda Wood 712-246-1581 712-542-8862 712-542-8862 

Kristy O’Rourke 712-246-2520 712-828-0242 712-828-0242 

Jennifer Housman 712-246-2520 712-310-6616 712-310-6616 

Sonia Leece 712-246-2520 712-246-8937 712-246-8937 

 

Basic First Aid Priorities 
1. Survey the scene to make sure it is safe.  You cannot help by becoming a victim yourself. 
2. Call 911 
3. Do not move a victim if you suspect neck or back injury, unless absolutely necessary. 
4. Make certain the person is breathing. 
5. Make certain the person’s heart is beating. 
6. Control severe bleeding. 
7. Do CPR as necessary. 
8. Treat all body fluids as potentially infectious. 
In a serious emergency for which medical care is needed at once, the rescue squad 
should be called immediately, Dial 911. 

Health Precautions: 
1. Body fluids of all persons should be considered to be potentially containing infectious agents 

(germs). 
2. When possible, direct contact with body fluids should be avoided.  Disposable gloves are 

available for emergency use, as necessary.  All offices have been provided with an 
emergency kit with the necessary contents. 

3. Vigorous hand washing should always be a first priority whenever one comes in contact with 
any body fluid. 

4. Disposable gloves, plastic bags and a disinfectant solution need to be used for protection 
and cleanup in all situations. 

If items to be disposed of are materials with body fluids on them (such as bloody bandages or 
disposable diapers), these items should always be placed in a plastic bag and securely tied, 
prior to disposal. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  33 

Infectious Disease 

All body fluids should be treated as if they contain potential infectious agents! 

USE OF GLOVES:  Any caretaker should wear gloves when cleaning up blood spills, vomit, 
urine, feces, semen or vaginal secretions.  Gloves should also be worn when removing any 
body fluid spills from the environment (furniture, floors, rugs, etc.). 

HAND WASHING:  Hand washing after contact with an individual is routinely recommended.  In 
the case of accidental contact with blood, hands and/or affected skin areas should be washed 
immediately.  Proper hand washing requires the use of soap and water and vigorous washing 
under a stream of running water for approximately ten seconds.  A waterless hand rinse would 
be used when running water is not available. 

CLEANING METHODS:  Soiled environmental surfaces should be promptly cleaned with a 
freshly prepared household chlorine bleach solution (1:10 dilution).  Apply a disinfectant 
absorbent agent to soiled rugs, allow to dry, sweep up with a dustpan and broom and follow with 
a disinfectant rug shampoo, applied with a brush.  Using fresh bleach solution, soak mops, 
brooms and brushes for ten minutes.  Other cleaning equipment should also be thoroughly 
rinsed in fresh bleach solution. 

Washable clothing should be pre-soaked and washed separately using one-half cup chlorine or 
non-chlorine bleach per wash cycle.  All district-owned garments must be appropriately cleaned 
before issued to students.  Intimate apparel or garments worn without underclothing will not be 
reissued to another student. 

Material involving direct oral contact (instrument mouthpieces, CPR manikins, face masks) 
should be cleaned before reuse or reissue.  Established guidelines for CPR should be followed.  
Scrub surfaces with alcohol (70%) and allow to remain wet for thirty seconds before wiping dry.  
Surfaces cleaned with bleach solution should remain wet for ten minutes before rinsing with 
fresh water and wiping dry. 

DISPOSAL OF MATERIALS:  Clothing and other non-disposable materials that are 
soaked with body fluids should be placed in plastic bags and instructions for handling 
given to appropriate persons.  Disposable towels, tissues, gloves and cleaning supplies 
should be used whenever possible and should be placed in a plastic bag, securely tied 
and disposed of daily.  Used cleaning solutions should be flushed down a toilet. 

Bus Accident 
Precautionary Measures before Leaving the District: 
● Check to see if first aid kit and other emergency equipment are on the bus or school vehicle 

as required by law. 
● Take a list of students and sponsors in attendance.  Leave a copy with the school office.  Be 

sure to include a home phone number, names of parents, parents’ work phone, home 
address, indications of health or medical problems, and medical release forms. 

● The bus driver, supervisor, or designee shall be responsible for all procedures, including an 
accounting of all passengers. 

In the event of an accident: 
● Remain calm. 
● If threat of fire exists, move the children to a safe place. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  34 

● Contact transportation office or other administrator for recommendations and help 
managing the environment such as contacting parents/guardians, transporting students 
home, arranging for towing, or other needs. 

● Call emergency services and request assistance. 
 
In District:  

Jon Weinrich - 712-490-5481 (cell), Holly Scherff – 515-227-6940 (cell)  
Police/Ambulance - 911 
Dr. Kerri Nelson - 246-1581 or 319-329-0359 (cell)   
Other Administrators 

Name     Office   Cell   Home 
Dr. Kerri Nelson 712-246-1581 319-329-0359 319-329-0359 

Jason Shaffer 712-246-2520 712-246-2502 712-215-5531 

Monte Munsinger 712-246-2520 712-246-3356 712-246-8415 

Steve Hielen 712-246-1581 712-246-8455 712-246-8455 

Aaron Burdorf 712-246-4727 515-520-7640 515-520-7640 

Tiffany Spiegel 712-246-2520 402-490-0912 402-490-0912 

 
Benefiel’s Towing 712-382-1611 

 
Out of District: 

Highway Patrol - 1-800-525-5555 
Page County Sheriff - 712-542-5193 
Montgomery County Sheriff - 712-623-5107 
Fremont County Sheriff - 1-800-432-9240 or 712-374-2673 
Mills County Sheriff - 712-527-4871 
 
After-hours trip: 

Jon Weinrich - 712-490-5481 (cell) 
Dr. Kerri Nelson - 319-329-0359 (cell) 
Aaron Burdorf - 515-520-7640 (cell) 
Other Administrators 

Name     Office   Cell   Home 
Dr. Kerri Nelson 712-246-1581 319-329-0359 319-329-0359 

Jason Shaffer 712-246-2520 712-246-2502 712-215-5531 

Monte Munsinger 712-246-2520 712-246-3356 712-246-8415 

Steve Hielen 712-246-1581 712-246-8455 712-246-8455 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  35 

Aaron Burdorf 712-246-4727 515-520-7640 515-520-7640 

Tiffany Spiegel 712-246-2520 402-490-0912 402-490-0912 

 
Do not issue statements to the media.  Refer inquiries to civil authorities, the Superintendent’s 
Office, 246-1581. 
 

Catastrophic Injury 
A catastrophic injury is defined as any injury that might render a person paralyzed, result in a 
loss of a limb and/or is life threatening. 

What are the indicators of a catastrophic injury? 
1. The person may be unconscious (always assume that a spinal injury may exist). 
2. The person may have loss of feeling in one of more of their extremities. 
3. The person may have the inability to move one or more of their extremities. 
4. The person may experience a tingling or burning in one or more of their extremities. 
5. Any combination of number 2 and 4, accompanied by extreme weakness of one or more of 

the extremities. 

When a catastrophic injury has occurred: 
1. Call 911 or emergency personnel. 
2. Do not move the injured person unless there is immediate danger of further injury. 
3. As long as there is a pulse, there is no need to move the person. 
4. Remain calm for the sake of the injured person. 
5. If pulse or breathing stops before help arrives, begin CPR. 
6. Maintain the situation until the emergency unit arrives. 
7. A school representative will go with the injured person to the hospital with the immediate 

family member(s) 
 

Checklist for Telephone Threats 
If you receive a telephoned threat (bomb/chemical/other): 
● Remain calm.  Do not hang up.  Keep the caller on the line as long as possible and listen 

carefully. 
● Get a co-worker’s attention and have them call 911 and notify the principal. 

Ask the following questions: 
● Where is the bomb/chemical or other hazard? 
● When will it explode/be activated? 
● What does it look like? 
● What kind of bomb/hazard is it? 
● What will cause it to explode/activate? 
● What is your name? 
● Did YOU place the bomb/hazard?  Why? 
● Where are you? 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  36 

 
Exact wording of threat:                                                        

                            

 

If voice is familiar, who did it sound like?                                     

 

 

Caller ID Information: 

Male Female Adult Juvenile Age 

 

Call Origin: 
Local Long Distance Internal Cell Phone Age 

 

Caller’s Voice:  Note pattern of speech, type of voice, tone.  Check all that apply. 

Calm Excited Loud Soft Deep Nasal 

Raspy Distinct Slurred Normal Crying Laughter 

Slow Rapid Disguised Accent Lisp Stutter 

Drunken Familiar Incoherent Deep Breath   

 

Background Sounds:  Check all that apply: 

Voices Airplanes Street Noises Trains Quiet Bells 

Clear Static Animals Party Vehicles Horns 

House Noises PA System Music Motor Phone Booth Factory Machines 

Other      

 

Threat Language:  Check all that apply: 

Well-Spoken (Educated) Foul Taped Incoherent Irrational Message Read from Script 

 
Did caller indicate knowledge of the building?  Give Specifics:  

 
 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  37 

 
 

 
Person Receiving Call:  

 
Phone Number Where Call Was Received:   

LEAVE YOUR PHONE OFF OF THE HOOK! DO NOT HANG UP AFTER 
CALLER HANGS UP! 
 

Chemical Spill/Toxic Fumes 
INSIDE THE BUILDING 
● Evacuate the building if there are toxic fumes, poison, or an unknown substance. 
● Call 911. 
● Designate a knowledgeable person to meet emergency responders. 
● Close doors as you leave. 
● Stop forced air circulation. 
● Media is to be directed to the Superintendent’s Office. 
 
OUTSIDE THE BUILDING 
● Call 911. 
● Designate a knowledgeable person to meet emergency responders. 
● Never enter vapor plume to “test or smell” it. 
● Close all windows and shut off outside air intakes. 
● Prepare to evacuate area. 
● Media is to be directed to the Superintendent’s Office. 
 
Evacuation/Alternate School Locations in Case of a Crisis: 
Although it is highly unlikely, some crisis situations may require that the school is evacuated and 
the students relocated.  If emergency personnel determine that the building will be unsafe for 
some time, notify the Superintendent’s Office.  No one is to re-enter the building without the 
expressed permission of the Principal or Superintendent. 

The Administrative Office will make the following calls: 
Police - 911 or 246-3512 

Dr. Kerri Nelson 712-246-1581 319-329-0359 319-329-0359 

Jason Shaffer 712-246-2520 712-246-2502 712-215-5531 

Monte Munsinger 712-246-2520 712-246-3356 712-246-8415 

Steve Hielen 712-246-1581 712-246-8455 712-246-8455 

Aaron Burdorf 712-246-4727 515-520-7640 515-520-7640 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  38 

Tiffany Spiegel 712-246-2520 402-490-0912 402-490-0912 

Jon Weinrich 712-246-2815 712-370-4560 712-490-5481 

 

The following locations are possible evacuation sites: 
Old Armory 
423 W. Thomas 
246-2187 or 246-3409 

Methodist Church 
200 Church St 
246-2081 or 246-4663 

Emmanuel Lutheran 
406 E. Pioneer 
246-3287 

Presbyterian Church 
200 W. Clarinda 
246-3592 

First Baptist Church 
411 W. Clarinda 
246-1970 

Trinity Lutheran Church 
413 W. Summit 
246-1131 

Administrative Office 
304 W. Nishna Rd. 
246-1581 

High School 
1000 Mustang Dr. 
246-4727 

JK-8 School 
601 Dr. Creighton Cir. 
246-2520 

 

Crisis Management Tips 
1. Don’t make the emergency worse.  The world hasn’t ended, life will go on, and you will get 

over this.  Not making it worse, may well be the best you can do.  Don’t let people take 
foolish chances and become part of the problem. 

2. Control the information flow.  The problem is generally too much, not too little.  Reliable 
filters must be established so you get isolation from all the input information clamoring for 
your attention.  Equally important is the formation of a plan to pass information to others 
quickly.  Others need to have an overview of what you are doing in order to support the 
needed logistics efforts to bring in additional resources. 

3. Delegate!  Start putting problems into “boxes” early and give them to others to work on, 
while insuring a smooth hand off.  You can’t possibly deal with everything, so start trying to 
identify coherent aspects of the problem to give to someone else.  Insist on feedback - a 
review and summary of actions taken and the results. 

4. Refuse to be drawn into trivia.  Demands that you personally deal with even the most 
mundane problems will be made constantly.  Don’t do it.  Keep your focus on important 
items and refuse to deal with trivial matters. 

5. Remember personalities!  You may feel that you are dealing with all that one human can 
handle and that everyone should understand your problems, state of mind, fatigue, etc.  and 
act accordingly.  Many will, some will not.  Rivalries on staff will surface and people will act 
irrationally.  Be prepared and do not let these facts of human nature frustrate you. 

6. Insist subordinates get adequate rest.  They won’t otherwise and you will be left with people 
who are performing poorly because of exhaustion.  Remember that this rule also applies to 
you. 

7. Bring key organizations and people together fairly often to disseminate information and 
exchange views.  People and organizations react negatively and irrationally when there is a 
lack of information; counter this by scheduled meetings.  Here and in everyday 
management, insist on an economy of communications. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  39 

8. In the face of uncertainty, remember to select the option that leaves the greatest freedom for 
subsequent actions.  You won’t have enough information available in many cases to be 
comfortable with your decision.  Face the need for possible future reversals and act to 
minimize their impact. 

9. Accountability.  Litigation may follow!  Keep a good audit trail of actions, conditions and 
decisions to facilitate your defense, should it be necessary.  Establish from the outset of 
systematic effort to gather and store data to assist you in the future. 

10. Do not let individuals or organizations abdicate their responsibilities.  For various reasons, 
some will want to do this.  Insist they carry out their responsibilities, regardless of how 
painful it may be for them. 

11. Establish relationships with other organizations and their capabilities, limitations and lines of 
communication, well in advance.  A time of crisis is not the time to get to know people. 

12. Critically reexamine assumptions. Here and in everyday management, most of our decisions 
are based on assumptions.  Some of these are in the forefront of our thought process and 
are vital. 

13. Return to normal operations as soon as possible.  In the meantime, appoint a responsible 
staff officer, whose only job is to supervise normal day to day operations.  We must always 
keep the store open, even while fighting fires. 

 

Emergency Numbers 
Police, Fire, Ambulance: 

■ 911 
Shenandoah Police: 

■ 712-246-3512 
Page County Sheriff: 

■ 712-542-5193 
Mills County Sheriff: 

■ 712-527-4871 
Fremont County Sheriff: 

■ 712-374-2673 
Fire Department: 

■ 712-246-2300 
Shenandoah Hospital: 

■ 712-246-1230 
 

Administration: 
Dr. Kerri Nelson, Superintendent 

■ 319-329-0359 (Cell) 246-1581 (Work) 
Jason Shaffer, High School Principal 

■ 712-215-5531 (Cell) 246-4727 (Work)  
Monte Munsinger, K8 Principal 

■ 712-246-8415 (Cell) 246-2520 (Work) 
Aaron Burdorf, Assistant HS Principal/A.D.  

■ 515-520-7640 (Cell) 246-4727 (Work) 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  40 

Tiffany Spiegel, Early Childhood 
■ 402-490-0912 (Cell) 246-2520 (Work) 

Jon Weinrich, Transportation 
■ 712-490-5481 (Cell) 246-2520 (Work) 

Steve Hielen, Maintenance & Operations 
■ 712-246-8455 (Cell)  

 

Hotline Numbers: 

Poison Control: 
● 1-800-222-1222 

Alcohol/Drug Information: 
● 1-800-729-6686 

Drug/Alcohol Treatment: 
● 1-800-662-4357 

Adolescent Suicide: 
● 1-800-786-2929 

AIDS Information: 
● 1-800-342-2437 

Al-Anon & Alateen: 
● 1-800-356-9996 

Boys Town National Hotline: 
● 1-800-448-3000 

Child Abuse Hotline: 
● 1-800-422-4453 

Iowa Teen Health Line: 
● 1-800-443-8336 (Monday-Friday, 4-8 PM) 

National Runaway Hotline: 
● 1-800-RUNAWAY (1-800-786-2929) 

 

Emergency Steps for Undefined Situations 
1. Staff should assess the injury or situation to determine seriousness.  Err on the side 

of caution. 
2. If the situation is catastrophic, call 911.  Do not leave the injured person unattended. 

a. If two or more staff are present, you should send someone to seek help. 
b. With only one staff present, you should send two students to make the emergency call.  

After the call is made, one of the students should return to the staff to inform them that 
the call has been made.  One student may need to stay and monitor the phones. 

c. Designate a person for crowd control.  Remove others from the area. 
3. After 911 contact the following personnel: 

a. After calling 911 notify the building administrator/ supervisor or superintendent. 
4.   What should a staff do away from school when they are with students? 

a. Seek help from site administration. 
b. Seek help from the bus driver, if available. 
c. Seek help from a parent or other responsible adult for crowd control 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  41 

d. Once the EMT unit arrives, you should begin to contact the above stated personnel. 
e. Use good judgment regarding completion of the contest. 

 

Fire Emergency Procedures 
Every classroom must have an emergency evacuation plan and a backup evacuation plan and 
PRACTICE BOTH. 
1. Alarm sounds. 
2. Evacuate immediately and consider those with disabilities. 
3. Do not stop to get personal items - purse, coat, books, etc. 
4. Teachers follow lines to make sure no one is left behind.  Shut classroom doors.  It is not 

necessary to shut the windows.  Teachers must take attendance and grade book. 
5. Classes need to line up at the assigned area, a safe distance from the building.  Keep clear 

of fire equipment and fire hydrants. 
6. Teachers check to see if all are present.  If anyone is missing, it must be reported 

immediately to the Principal and/or a firefighter. 
7. If the Principal determines that the emergency will be of a considerable duration or if 

remaining at the site presents a hazard, the Superintendent or designee will arrange 
transportation and an alternative site. 

To be effective, fire drills must be UNEXPECTED.  Each drill should be planned for a different 
period. 

NO ONE REENTERS THE BUILDING UNTIL ALL CLEAR HAS BEEN SOUNDED OR 
PERMITTED TO REENTER BY THE FIRE COMMANDER. 
 
Gas Leak 
Natural gas leaks can occur inside or outside of a building.  The potential hazards of a gas leak 
are:  fire, explosion, carbon monoxide poisoning and suffocation.  You should suspect a gas 
leak if you smell a very unpleasant odor, like that of rotten eggs.  Mercaptan is added to gas to 
let you know that a leak exists. 

For all Gas Leaks: 
● Contact your building Principal or designee. 
● Contact Maintenance Supervisor at 246-8455 and inform them of the emergency situation. 
● Contact MidAmerican 1-800-595-LEAK (5325) 
● If maintenance is not available and the situation is an emergency, call 911. 

If the smell of gas is strong: 
● Evacuate the building. 
● Move upwind from any smell. 

If the smell of gas is faint: 
● Open windows or doors. 
● Evacuate the area. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  42 

If person(s) is unconscious: 
● Do not enter the area without breathing protection. 
● Remove all persons from the area. 
● Contact the School Nurse. 
 

Intruder Situations 
Stranger in the Building: 
● Strangers/trespassers on campus should be approached in pairs. 
● Ask for identification, determine their presence and accompany them to the office. 
● Notify the Principal.  Next, notify the Superintendent’s Office. 
● Designated staff member will make announcements in clear language to inform and provide 

direction. 
● Once the threat has ended, the office will make an all clear announcement, followed by an 

explanation. 

Hostage Situation: 
● Call 911 
● Assign a staff member to liaison with the police.  Police will establish a command post. 

What to do: 
● Notify the Principal who will notify the appropriate staff. (To include but not limited to building 

guidance counselor and /or AEA staff.) 
● Don’t do anything to escalate the situation before the police arrive. 
● Notify the Principal first, then notify the Superintendent’s Office. 
● Designate personnel to monitor the hallways and other areas of the building to direct 

students who are not is a class to a safe area. 
● Principal or his/her representative will make announcements in clear language to inform and 

provide direction. 
● Teachers should follow A.L.I.C.E. protocol to consider the safest response to the situation. 
● The principal will make a list of those being held hostage.  Each teacher will take a head 

count of their class. 
● The principal will develop an appropriate communication plan in conjunction with 

superintendent & leadership team. 
● Once the threat has ended, give the all clear announcement and then explain the crisis. 
● Determine the need for the level of Crisis Response Team necessary to help students and 

help staff deal with the aftermath. 

Violent Intruder - if a violent situation or threat occurs, A.L.I.C.E. begins. 
A.L.I.C.E. is an acronym for 
1. Alert, CALL 911 and notify the office.  It is important to be as clear and accurate with the 

information as possible.  Remember to identify yourself, your location, the suspect 
information, type of weapon, direction of travel and a call back number.  Don’t hang up 
unless your safety is compromised or you are directed to by the dispatcher.  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  43 

2. Lockdown or shelter in place.  By locking down and barricading or blocking entry points, 
you are making yourself a hard target and creating a stronghold that nobody should be able 
to enter. Wait for the all clear announcement prior to opening the door. 

3. Inform  
*As real-time information becomes available. 
*Use this information to make single or collective decisions as to the best option for survival. 
*Be flexible because the situation will be dynamic and fluid. 

4. Counter the attacker as a last resort.  There is also the possibility of the intruder entering a 
secured area.  If this is the situation then total commitment to countering the attacker is 
essential.  Many objects can be used as distraction devices, spread out, turn out the lights 
and be ready to cause confusion for the intruder and make yourself a hard target.  NOISE – 
MOVEMENT – DISTRACTIONS – DISTANCE – SWARM 

5. Evacuate, or get out!! Evacuate based on information available. Your goal here is to put as 
much time and distance as possible between you and the attacker.  When you can evacuate 
do so quickly and move to rally point, be flexible in route as needed. Rally Points: JK-8: 
Safe Room at HS; 9-12: Emmanuel Lutheran Church, 406 E. Pioneer, Admin: Trinity 
Lutheran Church, 413 W. Summit 

Remember, there are no guarantees in an active shooter/violent intruder situation, but just as in 
most other emergency situations the more you prepare, the better your chances of survival. 
 

Lines Down in the Area 
● Have an adult present in the area of the downed lines to prevent anyone from going near 

them. 
● Call the power company for your area - 1-800-799-4443 
● Call Maintenance - 246-8455 
● Call the Police Department - 246-3512 
 

Power Failure 
● Use the hand-held radio to inform the Superintendent and the Maintenance Department of 

the situation. 
● Evacuate the building by fire drill procedures if there is a danger of fire. 
● Relocate the students to rooms with windows or direct outside ventilation. 
 

Principal Checklist for the Death of a Student’s Parent/Guardian 
Suggestions: 
● Verification of death (spouse, parent, hospital, police, mortuary)* 
● Inform child’s teachers and counselor. 
● Inform child’s peers/classmates.* 
● A visit to the home by school personnel (teacher, counselor, principal) when appropriate. 
● Arrange for a remembrance from the school (food, card, flowers). 
● Arrange for appropriate staff to attend services and subs for the same. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  44 

● Identify people to help the teacher talk with the student’s classmates about the death and 
how to welcome the student back to class. 

● Assess counseling needs for the child/children when she/he returns to school 
(counselor/social worker). 

● Plan for and provide follow up visit(s) with the family, when appropriate. 
● Provide student/family with information on community resources, if needed. 
*Coordinate with other Principals/buildings that may be involved. 
 

Principal Checklist for a Student/Staff Death 
Immediate Action by Any Staff Member: 
• Report any known information to an administrator/ supervisor.  If your direct supervisor is 

unavailable contact the superintendent directly. 
• Keep information confidential and avoid sharing information that has not been validated. 

There are concerns with FERPA and communication. 
 

Immediate Actions to be taken by the Principal/Supervisor: 
● Obtain and confirm the facts concerning the death(s). 
● Notify Superintendent. 
● Determine level of Crisis Response Team necessary. 
● Develop an appropriate communication plan in conjunction with superintendent & leadership 

team. 
 

Follow up actions to be taken by the Principal/Supervisor in conjunction with the Crisis 
Response Team: 
● Update information concerning the death(s). 
● Develop a plan for the day. 
● Meet with the building staff. 
● Make announcement to students. 
● Plan for subs, if needed. 
● Notify other schools affected. 
● Identify the students/staff who are most effected. 
 

REPORT OF SUICIDE RISK 
Potential Suicide Checklist: 
Suicide threats must always be taken seriously and intervention should be immediate.  If a 
situation is potentially life threatening, students and staff need to recognize that the issue of 
confidentiality does not apply. 

Potential Suicide Risk: 
● Assess the degree of risk and notify Principal or other administrator. 

Administrative Steps to Take: 
● Initiate the Suicide Risk Assessment. 
● Contact the student’s parent/guardian and plan how to help the student. 
● Police involvement may be needed if the student is assessed to be in immediate danger and 

parents cannot be located or cannot help.  Shenandoah police can transport a student to 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  45 

receive mental health services; school staff should avoid transporting students in private 
vehicles. 

● Family specialist, police or Child Protective Services may need to be involved if parents are 
unable or unwilling to help. 

● Refer parent/guardian to appropriate services (physician, mental health or community 
agency). 

 
Administrative Follow Up: 
● Check to be sure the student has received or is receiving appropriate services. 
● Plan for the student’s transition back to school.   
● Brief appropriate staff on the student’s status. 
 

Tornado 
The National Weather Service may issue tornado warnings/watches.  The warnings will be 
relayed to all schools by radio.  The Page County Storm Spotters may sound tornado warnings.  
KMA Radio will broadcast on 960 AM and 99.1 FM.  The Superintendent’s office will be 
responsible for relaying information from the National Weather Service. 

TORNADO WATCH:  A tornado may develop.  Continue normal operations. 

SPOTTER ALERT:  Severe storms are within 50 miles of Shenandoah. 

TORNADO WARNING:  A tornado has been detected.  A radio tone page will be broadcast by 
the Page County Law Enforcement Center with a message to take cover.  TAKE COVER.  Put 
the Safety Plan into operation. 

If a Tornado Warning is Sounded: 
● During the Day:   

○ Upon receiving a warning, the alarm will be sounded to take cover immediately.  
Seconds count! 

○ Secretaries shall take the hand held radio with them. 
○ Students and teachers shall move to locations of safety, away from possible flying glass 

and other debris. 
○ All persons should be prepared to tuck and duck. 
○ Teachers, stay with the students in the current classes. 

● End of the Day: 
○ Students are to be held at school in the place of greatest safety. 
○ STUDENTS ARE NOT TO BOARD VEHICLES! 

● If on Buses: 
○ All tornado watches and warnings will be relayed to the active bus drivers by the 

transportation director. 
○ Bus drivers must keep vigilance and, if necessary, take cover by exiting the bus. 
○ Bus occupants may seek safety in rural residences or outdoor places that offer 

protection, such as bridges. 
The all clear signal will be given by the Superintendent and will be relayed to all schools.  
Dismissal may be delayed at the discretion of the Principal and it is the Principal who 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  46 

determines when it is safe to dismiss students.  Updates are available by contacting the 
Superintendent’s Office at 246-1581. 

Post-Tornado Procedures: 
If a tornado passes without striking you, be cautious, as there may be other funnels in the area.  
Usually, however, more than one tornado does not occur in the same general path, following the 
initial tornado. 

If your building is struck by a tornado: 
● Notify the Administration Office – 712-246-1581. 
● Call Maintenance at 712-246-8455 to turn off gas and electricity at the main switch (es) as 

soon as possible. 
● Activate Crisis Response Team. 
● Evacuate damaged area cautiously. 
● Teachers take attendance. 
● The injured should be moved as little as possible.  All injured should be noted and all 

missing should be reported immediately to the Principal or designee. 
● Notification of all injury and damage should be made to the Superintendent as soon as 

possible by telephone, radio or special messenger. 
● Establish a parent-information response team as soon as possible. 
● Retain students in the area until it is considered safe for students to return to class, go 

home, be released to their parents, or board school buses. 
 

Water Supply Interruption 
● When the District is alerted by city authorities about a scheduled brief interruption in a 

specific building’s water supply, staff members will be notified and the Superintendent or 
his/her designee will determine what alternative procedures will be followed. 

● If the water supply shut off is for a short time, staff will be alerted to have students use 
restrooms immediately, prior to the interruption.  For periods of time that are deemed by the 
Superintendent or his/her designee to be “too long”, alternative plans will be implemented; 
depending upon the expected length of time the water is interrupted. 

● If a water main has broken, and repair will take longer than a reasonable period of time, the 
Superintendent, or designee, will determine the necessity for closure of any or all buildings. 

  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  47 

ally and Reunification Protocols 

Reunification Site: National Guard Armory 
   601 Ferguson Road, Shenandoah, IA 
   (P) 712-246-1913 

Reunification 
Team 

Position/Role Responsibility Items to take to 
Reunification 
Site 

Location Needed 
Documents 

Tiffany 
Spiegel 

Administrator/ 
Reunification 
Lead 

Manage entire 
command post, 
communicate 
with law 
enforcement 
and media 

Bus radio, 
laptop, cell 
phone, paper 
copy of 
reunification 
plan, bull horn 

All areas EOP 
Reunification 
Sheets 

Anita Baker, 
Connie 
McGinnis 

Office staff/ 
Student & Staff 
Information 
Access 

Access student 
management 
system for 
parent and staff 
contacts, escort 

Bus radio, 
laptop, paper 
copy of 
reunification 
plan, white 
crisis bucket 

#1, Parent 
Check-In 

EOP 
Reunification 
Sheets 

Pam Nebel, 
Wendy 
Palmer, Cori 
Feller 

Office staff/ 
Student & Staff 
Information 
Access 

Retrieve 
students after 
parents check 
in, reunify parent 
and child at 
check in area 

Bus radio, 
laptop, paper 
copy of 
reunification 
plan, white 
crisis bucket 

#1,2, 
Parent 
Check-In 

EOP 
Reunification 
Sheets 

Teresa 
Hughes, 
Maria Blake, 
Nicole 
Grindle 

Instructional 
Coaches/ 
Communication 
with staff & 
student support 

Communicate 
updates and 
relevant 
information to 
staff at 
reunification site 
and support 
students as 
needed, 
Runners 

Laptop, white 
crisis bucket 

#1, 2, 7, 
Staff & 
Student 
designated 
areas 

EOP 
Reunification 
Sheets 

Natalie 
Denton, 
Sonia Leece, 
Kerra Ratliff 

School Liaison/ 
Student Check 
out 

Greet and direct 
public, share 
process of 
check-in with 
public 

Bus radio, 
paper copy of 
reunification 
plan, white 
crisis bucket 

#1, Parent 
Check-In 
and 
perimeter 

 

All teachers 
and 
associates 

Staff/Student 
Support 

Remain with 
students at 
designated area 

White crisis 
bucket 

#7, Staff & 
Student 
safe areas 

 

 

 

 

 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  48 

 

Location Map has been Redacted 

 

  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  49 

Additional Transportation Information 

Alternate Route Plan for Hard Surface Only 
 

 

4 Maps have been redacted due to student addresses being listed 

 

 

Driver’s Contact Information 
Name Phone Cell Phone 
Weinrich, Jon  (712) 490-5481 
Scherff, Holly  (515) 227-6940 
Munsinger, Monte  (712) 246-8415 
Adcock, Jackie (712) 246-2132 (712) 246-8967 
Green, Gordon  (712) 303-7907 
Greenleaf, John  (712) 215-1881 
Horel, Steve  (712) 215-1501 
Leigan, Craig  (712) 326-8602 
Nelson, Don  (319) 360-2729 
Pease, Ashley  (712) 215-2284 
Priest, Dee  (712) 215-0334 
Saner, Lou  (712) 215-5927 
Thrasher, Ken (712) 246-1852 (785) 338-0037 
Thrasher, Shirley  (970) 708-2313 
Vaill, Tammy (712) 534-2220 (712) 215-0863 
Wright, Adam  (308) 340-8898 

 

  



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  50 

Emergency Procedures 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  51 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  52 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  53 

K-8 Evacuation 
Buses will line up in front of the building 

• We have 7 busses in our normal 2nd round fleet, plus Jackie’s PK/SPED bus 
o Bus 19-1 – 65 -K (65) 
o Bus 19-2 – 77 – K (27), 1 (50) 
o Bus 18 – 83 – 1 (20), 2 (63) 
o Bus 15 – 83 – 2 (7), 3 (76) 
o Bus 14 – 65 – 3 (10), 4 (55) 
o Bus 7 – 65 – 4 (26), 5 (39) 
o Bus 8 – 65 – 5 (48), 6 (17) 
o Bus 9 – 65 – 6 (51), 7 (14) 
o Bus 11 – 65 – 7 (65) 
o Bus 10 – 65 – 7 (6), 8 (59) 
o Bus 1 – 36 – 8 (3) 
o K – 92 
o 1 – 70 – 162 
o 2 – 70 – 232 
o 3 – 86 – 318 
o 4 – 81 – 399 
o 5 – 87 – 486 
o 6 – 78 – 564 
o 7 – 85 – 639 
o 8 – 62 – 701 

• Extra Drivers called in case of emergency 
o Jon 
o Holly 
o Adam 
o Craig 
o Lou 
o Jackie 
o Don 
o Dee 
o Derek – until Kenny & Shirley arrive 
o Aaron 
o Mike Jones 
o Brent Ehlers 

• At the Armory 
o Locations 

 Parent pick up – happens at the north door 
 1st round elementary – students line up with normal staff assignments 

• We need color signs and normal people to lead the lines to buses. 
 2nd round elementary – students with after school staff  
 Middle school – students go with normal homeroom teacher groups to 

wait for second round 
o Students are accounted for by group lists – need all lists in the white buckets. 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  54 

Building Maps 

Logan Preschool/Administration Building - Redacted 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  55 

 

JK-8 Building - Redacted 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  56 

High School - Redacted 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



School Information Data Sheet 

 
  57 

Master Schedules 

A master schedule of where classes, grade levels, and staff are located during the day is 
located in the district’s student information system which is currently PowerSchool. 
PowerSchool is a hosted platform and can be accessed remotely. 

 

 

 

  



 
 

#3079726 

WELLNESS SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 This Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this1st day of July, 2019 
(the “Effective Date”) by and between Shenandoah Medical Center, an Iowa non-profit company 
(“Hospital”) and Shenandoah Community School District, an Iowa public school corporation 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Iowa (“School District”). 
 

PURPOSE 
 
 Hospital has developed a Workplace Wellness Solution Program (the “Program”) through 
which Hospital providers certain wellness services, including annual wellness visits / health coach 
services, to promote healthy lifestyles and to foster work environments supporting wellness and 
preventive care initiatives.  School District sponsors an employee wellness program.  School District 
desires for Hospital to assist it with the administration of its employee wellness program and 
specifically in the provision of wellness services to School District’s employees, in accordance with 
the terms and conditions outlined in this Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions contained 
herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
 1. Services to be Provided.  Hospital shall provide the following wellness services, which 
are customarily provided through Hospital’s Program (the “Services”):   
 

(a) Lab Evaluation – On-site wellness screen offers 22 blood tests including cholesterol, 
blood sugar, thyroid, blood cell count, and electrolytes.  

(b) Health Risk Assessment – Used to collect health information coupled with a process 
that includes biometric testing to assess an individual's health status, risks, and habits.  
This information is used to engage School District employees in their health, shape 
lifestyle choices, and promote prevention. A de-identified summary will be provided to 
School District Leadership to better understand the health characteristics of its 
employees. 

(c) Care/Nutrition Management – An annual private consultation between the employee 
and our Occupational Health Nurse and Health Coach to discuss lab results, discuss the 
results of the health risk assessment and discuss a plan for preventative future care. 

(d) Prevention Summary Roadmap – Preventative services recommended based on a 
patient’s specific demographic. 

(e) Annual Immunizations – On-site flu shots offered to all School District employees at a 
rate of $30 per immunization (for 2019). 

(f) Pre-work Job Screening – Series of tasks designed to assess a worker's ability to 
perform physical or other demands of a job for which he/she has been hired.  This 
service is offered, upon request of the School District, at a fixed discounted rate of $25 
per screening.  



 2 

(g) SMC Wellness Center Access – The Wellness Center at Shenandoah Medical Center 
combines state-of-the-art equipment, comprehensive fitness programs and a team of 
professional trainers that work with individuals to develop and implement healthy 
lifestyle changes.  Access by employees to the Wellness Center is included in this 
proposal. 

(h) Personal Training – Customized workout schedules based on health history, goals and 
current physical status.  Employees will be advised on proper exercise techniques to 
ensure good form, strength and conditioning.  This service is offered at a rate of $25 per 
month, which will be billed directly to the employee, if employee elects to participate in 
this service. 

(i) Customized Services Brochure – A full packet will be composed by Hospital staff to be 
provided to School District’s employees. 

 School District acknowledges and agrees that Hospital may modify the Services, in accordance 
with Hospital’s Program.  Hospital shall provide School District with notice of any material changes to 
the Services identified in this Section 1 at least thirty (30) days prior to any effective date of a change.   
 
 Hospital shall provide Services, through qualified personnel, in a professional and efficient 
manner in accordance with industry and professional standards.  School District shall set aside and 
maintain designated areas adequate for the provision of Services.  Hospital and School District shall 
mutually agree on a schedule for the performance of the Services.  School District shall assist the 
Hospital in obtaining all necessary authorizations and consents for the provision of Services.  The 
Hospital shall develop all authorization and consent forms for employees. 
 
  2. Compensation.  In consideration of the Services, School District shall pay Hospital the 
fees in an amount and manner as outlined in Schedule A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference.  On an annual basis, Hospital may modify the fees for the Services by providing at least 
thirty (30) days written notice of such modifications.   
 

3. Term and Termination.  The term of this Agreement will begin on July 1, 2019 and 
shall continue for one (1) year and may be renewed for successive one (1) year terms upon mutual 
agreement of the parties at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the existing term (the initial term 
and any renewal term shall be referred to herein as the “Term”). This Agreement may be terminated 
prior to the expiration of any Term as follows: 

 
(a) Mutual Agreement.  If both Hospital and School District mutually agree, in writing, 

this Agreement shall terminate on the terms and date stipulated in such writing. 
 

 (b) For Cause Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any 
time by notifying the other party of its intention to terminate “for cause” at least thirty (30) days prior 
to the termination date.  Such notice shall be in writing and specifically set forth the reasons justifying 
termination for cause.  For purposes of this Agreement, “for cause” means: a material breach by a 
party to this Agreement of one or more obligations imposed upon the party under this Agreement.  If 
the alleged breach is not cured within thirty (30) days, the Agreement will automatically terminate on 
the termination date specified in the notice. 
 



 3 

 4. Relationship of the Parties. The parties hereto are independent contractors.  This 
Agreement does not constitute and shall not be construed in any manner so as to create as between 
these parties a joint venture, employment relationship, agency agreement, partnership or any other 
relationship other than that of independent contractors.   
 
 5. Proprietary Information.  In the event Hospital needs any of School District’s 
proprietary information, including but not limited to any marketing plans, financial information, 
trademarks, or copyrights (whether registered or unregistered), it shall only utilize such proprietary 
information to perform Services hereunder and shall return all proprietary information immediately 
upon the termination of this Agreement. 
 
 6. Compliance with Laws & Regulations.  School District and Hospital agree to comply 
with all applicable federal, state and local laws in the performance of obligations under this 
Agreement, including but not limited to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 
1996 and the regulations promulgated thereunder (“HIPAA”).  If Hospital is a Business Associate of 
School District, Hospital will execute a Business Associate Agreement.   
 
 7. Insurance.  Hospital and School District shall each maintain comprehensive general 
liability insurance and professional liability insurance (for Hospital) in amounts of not less than 
$1,000,000 per claim/$3,000,000 in the aggregate.  Upon request, each party will provide the other 
with a certificate of insurance evidencing this coverage 
 
 8. Indemnification.  To the extent permitted by law, each party shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the other against all actions, claims, demands and liabilities, and against all loss, damage, 
costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, arising directly or indirectly from an alleged 
injury to a person or to property as a result of the negligent or intentional act or omission of a party or 
any of its employees, subcontractors, or agents, except to the extent any such loss, damage, costs and 
expenses were caused by the negligent or intentional act or omission of the other party or its officers, 
employees or agents or covered by applicable insurance. 
  
 9. Notices.  Any notice required to be given by this Agreement shall be in writing and 
personally delivered or sent by certified U.S. mail to the following addresses: 
 
 If to Hospital:      If to School District:  
 

Attn: Matt Sells, CEO    Attn: Kerri Nelson, Superintendent 
 300 Pershing Ave.    304 West Nishna Road 
 Shenandoah, IA 51601   Shenandoah, IA 51601 
 
 10. Miscellaneous.  This Agreement may not be assigned by either party to this Agreement 
without the express written consent of the other party.  This Agreement, including any attachments, 
contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and 
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings.  Except as otherwise 
provided herein, any modification of this Agreement shall be effective only if it is in writing and 
signed by both parties to this Agreement.  The failure or delay by a party at any time to require 
performance of any provision shall not affect the right of such party to require performance at a later 
time; no waiver shall be effective unless it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have 
granted such waiver.  Should any provision of this Agreement or application thereof be held invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder to this Agreement shall not be affected and shall continue to be valid and 



 4 

enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law unless to do so would defeat the purpose of this 
Agreement as mutually determined by the parties.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed 
in accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa.   
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties through their duly authorized officers, have executed 
this Agreement on the first date above written. 
 
SCHOOL DISTRICT    HOSPITAL 
 
By:  _________________________   By:  _______________________ 
 
Title:  _______________________   Title:  ______________________ 
 
 
 
01604173 
  



 5 

SCHEDULE A -  
COMPENSATION 

 
Payment.  School District shall pay Hospital an Annual Plan Fee in the amount of $15,000.00.  

The Services that are included in the Annual Plan Fee are indicated below.  In addition, and for the 
Services that are not included in the Annual Plan Fee, School District shall pay Hospital in the amount 
and manner indicated below.   

      
Service Price 

Lab Evaluation Included 
Care/Nutrition Management Included 

Health Risk Assessment Included 
Preventive Summary Roadmap Included 

Annual Flu Immunizations $30/employee 
Pre-work Job Screen $25/screen 

SMC Wellness Center Access Included 
Personal Training $25/month (to be paid by employee) 

Customized Services Brochure Included 
 
 Payment Terms.  For the Annual Plan Fee, School District agrees to pay Hospital the amount of 
the Annual Plan Fee by August 1, 2019 and then on the anniversary of such date for each successive 
term.   For other charges, Hospital will maintain and will provide School District with documentation 
detailing Services provided during the previous month or some other time period.  School District 
agrees to pay Contractor all fees due no later than thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such 
documentation.  Any amounts on invoices not paid within such period shall be subject to a 
compounding one and one-half percent (1.5%) service fee, or the maximum allowed by law, whichever 
is less, for each thirty (30) day period beyond the due date. 
 
 









 

Revenue Purpose Statement 

What is a Revenue Purpose Statement? 

On XXXX of this year, Shenandoah Community School District will bring to our 
patrons a mandated ballot issue regarding the allowed uses of the 1-cent sales tax 
in the State of Iowa that is dedicated to all of our Iowa schools. Provided below is 
information regarding Shenandoah Community School District’s Revenue Purpose 
Statement and the process prescribed by state laws for our district to continue to 
use these funds through 2051. If you have any other questions after reviewing this 
information, please do not hesitate to contact Kerri Nelson or Sherri Ruzek at 712-
246-1581. 

What is a Revenue Purpose Statement? 
 
It is a ballot issue that describes the allowed uses for the 1-cent sales tax in the 
State of Iowa that is dedicated to all Iowa school districts. This $.01 sales tax is 
known as SAVE (Secured an Advanced Vision for Education). Shenandoah’s current 
Revenue Purpose Statement was originally passed in September of 2009. Our 
district did this to outline the allowed uses for our SAVE fund, as required by law. 

What do we currently do with the $.01 sales tax revenue? 
 
Over the past 10-years we have used this fund to pay down the debt levy on the K-8 
Building. We have used this revenue to pay for computers for our students and 
technology infrastructure for our buildings. The revenue has been used to purchase 
buses, update building security, classroom and entrance doors. It has also been used 
to purchase and install energy efficient lighting, update entryways and sidewalks 
into our buildings, make roof and brick repairs, upgrade the Fire Alarm Systems, 
replace windows, and other such repairs. The revenue has also been used to 
maintain a rotation of the transportation fleet and to construct the wresting/safe 
room. 

Why is this important now? 
 
Our district’s current Revenue Purpose Statement sunsets, or ends after a fixed 
period of time. We would like to extend our current Revenue Purpose Statement 
until 2051, which is allowed by Iowa law. With the extension, we can work with our 
local banks to structure revenue bonds against our current SAVE revenue. This will 
allow us to make much-needed repairs to all of the facilities in our district. Our high 
school was constructed in 1965. Although the “bones” of this facility are strong, 
after 51 years, it is in need of some significant repairs, updating and remodeling to 
bring it into the 21st century.  



 

 

Will this raise my taxes? 

The answer to this is a definite NO. This will absolutely not raise your taxes. This is 
the primary reason we would like to extend our current Revenue Purpose 
Statement. By extending our Revenue Purpose Statement until 2051, we can 
generate the necessary funds to assist with remodeling and building, and to keep 
technology, transportation and building repairs on rotation and in excellent 
condition without raising our taxes. Without your support to extend our Revenue 
Purpose Statement, it will be extremely difficult to update our facilities to meet the 
21st century needs of our children. 

This is NOT a vote on the SAVE funding. This is NOT a vote to increase the SAVE 
$.01 sales tax. The sales tax rate is set by the legislature. This is only a vote to 
extend our current Revenue Purpose Statement language to 2051 The sole purpose 
of the Revenue purpose Statement is to describe and outline the uses for which the 
$.01 sales tax may be used at Shenandoah CSD. 

When will the Revenue Purpose Statement vote be held? 
 
The vote is scheduled for September 10th. I would encourage you to get out and vote 
on September 10th, or contact the Page County Auditor’s office at 712-542-3219 to 
vote by absentee ballot. It is an important decision for our district, our facilities and 
our kids. Listed below are additional frequently asked questions that will provide 
additional information regarding our Revenue Purpose Statement and the 
September 10th vote.  

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 

Why does it require a vote? 
 
Bringing the Revenue Purpose Statement to voters for approval was a requirement 
imposed by the Iowa Legislature in 2008. The requirements for a Revenue Purpose 
Statement election are specifically stated in Iowa Code 423E. This section of the law 
requires the Board of Directors to adopt a Revenue Purpose Statement, subject to 
the approval of the electors, listing the proposed use of these funds. 

Do we currently have a Revenue Purpose Statement in place and in 
general terms, what uses will be allowed under the Revenue Purpose 
Statement? 
 
The Shenandoah Community School District currently has a Revenue Purpose 
Statement. The language outlined below identifies what is allowed under our 
current statement: Money received from the local sales and services tax for school 



 

infrastructure may be spent for any one or more of the following purposes: To 
provide funds for property tax relief. To provide revenue pledged to the payment of 
principal and interest on bonds authorized by sections 423E.5 and 423F.4 Code of 
Iowa as long as they are outstanding. To provide funds to build and furnish new 
school building(s); to build and furnish addition(s) to District buildings; to remodel, 
repair, and improve the District’s school buildings; to purchase and improve 
grounds; for demolition work; and to furnish and equip district facilities. To provide 
funds for the purchase. Lease, or lease-purchase of buildings or equipment, to 
implement energy conservation measures, sharing or rental of facilities, procuring 
or acquisition of libraries, or opening roads to schoolhouse or buildings. To provide 
funds for emergency repairs to respond to natural disasters, and for unanticipated 
mechanical, plumbing, structural, roof, electrical system failures, and for 
environmental remediation. To provide funds to establish and maintain public 
recreation places and playgrounds; provide for supervision and instruction for 
recreational activities, or for community education purposes. To provide funds for 
activities which may be funded by the physical plant and equipment levy, and other 
expenditures and purposes as now or hereafter permitted by law and designated by 
the Shenandoah Community School District. To provide funds to pay principal and 
interest or to retire general obligation bonds issued for school infrastructure 
purposes, energy improvement loans, loan agreements authorized by Iowa Code 
section 297.36, and sales, service and use tax revenue bonds issued under Iowa 
Code section 423E.5. 

Will passage of the Revenue Purpose Statement require a “super 
majority”? 
 
No.Only a simple majority is (50% +1) is needed for passage. 

What happens if the Revenue Purpose Statement is not approved? 
 
Iowa law requires a minimum of six months to elapse before another Revenue 
Purpose Election can be held. If the original version is not approved, either the 
same or a revised Statement can be brought back to our voters. 

Will voting by absentee ballot be possible? 
 
Yes. Please contact the Page County Auditor’s office at 712-542-3219. 

Additional Questions? 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact Kerri Nelson or Sherri Ruzek at 712-246-1581. 

 






	Board Agenda -June 24, 2019
	EOP Final Copy. Redacted
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Signatory Page
	1.2 Approval and Implementation
	1.3 Record of Changes
	1.4 Record of Distribution

	2 Purpose
	3 Scope
	4 Situation Overview
	4.1 Shenandoah Administration Office & Preschool
	4.1.1 School Population
	4.1.2 Building Information
	4.1.3 Geographical Issues
	4.1.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary

	4.2 Shenandoah Elementary/Middle School
	4.2.1 School Population
	4.2.2 Building Information
	4.2.3 Geographical Issues
	4.2.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary

	4.3 Shenandoah High School
	4.3.1 School Population
	4.3.2 Building Information
	4.3.3 Geographical Issues
	4.3.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary

	4.4 Shenandoah Bus Barn
	4.4.1 School Population
	4.4.2 Building Information
	4.4.3 Geographical Issues
	4.4.4 Threat/Hazard Assessment Summary

	4.5 Resources

	5 Planning Assumptions and Limitations
	5.1 Planning Assumptions
	5.2 Limitations

	6 Concept of Operations
	6
	6.1 Key Areas of Emergency Planning
	6.2 National Incident Management System
	6.2.1 Communication
	6.2.2 Initial Response
	6.2.3 Implementation of the Incident Command System (ICS)


	7 Organization and Assignment of Responsibilities
	7.1 Organization
	7.1.1 The Policy Group
	7.1.2 School Site Safety and Security
	7.1.3 District or School Departments

	7.2 Responsibilities
	7.2.1 District Incident Commander: Steve Hielen, Director of Maintenance and Operations
	7.2.2 Building Administrator
	7.2.3 Teachers
	7.2.4 Associates
	7.2.5 Counselors, Social Workers, and Psychologists
	7.2.6 School Nurses
	7.2.7 Custodians/Maintenance Personnel
	7.2.8 School Secretary/Office Staff
	7.2.9 Food Service Workers
	7.2.10 Transportation/Bus Drivers
	7.2.11 Other Staff (Substitute Teachers)
	7.2.12 Students
	7.2.13 Parents/Guardians


	8 Direction, Control, and Coordination
	8.1 Incident Command
	8.2 Incident Management
	8.3 Incident Command Post
	8.4 Incident Commander
	8.5 Unified Command
	8.6 Public Information Officer
	8.7 Operations Section
	8.8 Planning Section
	8.9 Logistics Section
	8.9.1 Sources and Use of Resources

	8.10 Finance/Administration Section
	8.11 Coordination with Policy/Coordination Group
	8.12 Coordination with Responders

	9 Information Collection
	9.1 Types of Information

	10 Training and Exercises
	10.1 Training
	10.1.1 Staff Training
	10.1.2 Student Training
	10.1.3 Parent/Guardian Training

	10.2 Exercises

	11 Administration, Finance, and Logistics
	11.1 Agreements and Contracts
	11.2 Recordkeeping
	11.2.1 Administrative Controls
	11.2.2 Activity Logs

	11.3 Incident Costs
	11.3.1 Annual Incident Management Costs
	11.3.2 Incident Costs

	11.4 Preservation of Records

	12 Plan Development and Maintenance
	Annexes
	Crisis Response Manual
	Overview
	Administrator’s Checklist for Responding to a Crisis
	Media Procedures
	Crisis Communications
	Utilizing the Crisis Response Team
	Basic First Aid Priorities
	Bus Accident
	Catastrophic Injury
	Checklist for Telephone Threats
	Chemical Spill/Toxic Fumes
	Crisis Management Tips
	Emergency Numbers
	Emergency Steps for Undefined Situations
	Fire Emergency Procedures
	Gas Leak
	Intruder Situations
	Lines Down in the Area
	Power Failure
	Principal Checklist for the Death of a Student’s Parent/Guardian
	Principal Checklist for a Student/Staff Death
	REPORT OF SUICIDE RISK
	Tornado
	Water Supply Interruption

	ally and Reunification Protocols
	Additional Transportation Information
	Alternate Route Plan for Hard Surface Only
	Driver’s Contact Information
	Emergency Procedures
	K-8 Evacuation

	Building Maps
	Logan Preschool/Administration Building - Redacted
	JK-8 Building - Redacted
	High School - Redacted

	Master Schedules


	Wellnes Services Agreement - Shenandoah CSD (01604173x7F7E1) (2)
	Save legal and description
	RPS SAVE
	Revenue Purpose Statement

	HS Addition Drawing

